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Part I

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) 
regarding future events and our future results that are subject to the safe harbors created under the Securities Act and the 
Exchange Act. All statements contained in this report other than statements of historical fact, including statements regarding our 
future results of operations and financial position, the expected impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our operations, our 
business strategy and plans, and our objectives for future operations, are forward-looking statements. The words “believe,” 
“may,” “will,” “estimate,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “goal,” “plan,” “intend,” “expect,” “seek”, and similar expressions are 
intended to identify forward-looking statements. We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current 
expectations and projections about future events and trends. These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, 
uncertainties and assumptions, including those described under “Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors,” and elsewhere in this report. 
Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks emerge from time to time. It is not 
possible for our management to predict all risks, nor can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which 
any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking 
statements we may make. In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the future events and trends discussed in this 
report may not occur and actual results could differ materially and adversely from those anticipated or implied in the forward-
looking statements.

You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. The events and circumstances reflected 
in the forward-looking statements may not be achieved or occur. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the 
forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements. 
We are under no duty to update any of these forward-looking statements after the date of this report or to conform these 
statements to actual results or revised expectations.

As used in this report, the terms “Limeade,” “we,” “us,” “our,” and “the Company” mean Limeade Inc. and its subsidiaries 
unless the context indicates otherwise.

ITEM 1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Our Company

Limeade, founded in 2006 as a Washington corporation, is an immersive employee well-being company that creates healthy 
employee experiences. Today, millions of people at 1,000+ companies in 100+ countries use Limeade solutions to navigate the 
future of work. By putting well-being at the heart of the employee experience, Limeade increases well-being and engagement 
resulting in less burnout and turnover — ultimately elevating business performance. Through our software-as-a-service (“SaaS”) 
solutions, Limeade helps companies better care for their employees, and helps employees care for themselves. 

Limeade established the Limeade Institute in 2015 to conduct research and share insight on the science behind creating great 
employee experiences. Limeade Institute science guides both the best practices we bring to our customers and the development of 
our industry-leading software. We work every day to deliver value to our customers in the form of employee engagement, 
retention, productivity, human connection, prevention of burnout, HR program and benefit utilization, cost reduction and more.

Limeade Well-Being is our flagship solution. In 2021, we acquired TINYpulse, a Seattle-based leader in listening software. 
We continue to offer the solution based on this acquisition, re-branded Limeade Listening, to existing customers and new 
prospects worldwide.

We are currently registered with the Australian Stock Exchange (“ASX”) and our certificates of depositary interests 
(“CDIs”) over common shares are traded on ASX. In August 2022, the Company filed Form 10 with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (“SEC”) which became effective in October 2022 and as such became a U.S. public reporting company. However, 
our stock is not traded on any United States (“U.S.”) stock exchange.

Our Products

The Limeade software solutions are sold to organizations through a subscription-based revenue model. Limeade has a 
technology platform built on scalable cloud-based infrastructure that is industry-agnostic, allowing us to deliver solutions to 
customers across a range of industries including manufacturing, healthcare, government, financial services and technology. 
Today Limeade solutions are available in 19 languages worldwide.

2



Limeade solutions include Limeade Well-Being and Limeade Listening. Limeade Well-Being primarily serves large 
enterprise organizations (5,000+ employees) in North America, the European Union (“EU”) and the Asia-Pacific region. Limeade 
Listening typically targets smaller, mid-market customers (under 500 employees) worldwide.

Employee experience represents the totality of circumstances, events, interactions and personal moments that impact 
employees’ relationships with, and performance within, their organizations. Intentionally managed and coordinated culture, 
strategy and work processes, supported by streamlined, connected and user-friendly technology platforms and solutions result in 
better employee experiences.

Well-Being and Listening solutions are key components of the employee experience. The way we infuse well-being into 
work is via web, app and mobile and how we do it:

• Activities & Content - Offer employees the opportunity to care for themselves, learn and improve. We offer well-being 
assessments, with results used to provide personalized well-being improvement action plans, content, challenges and activities;

• Condition & Clinical - Target high risk individuals with proven content, activities and services;

• Rewards & Recognition - Encouraged to recognize peers, teams, projects and earn meaningful rewards. We publicly 
and privately recognize employees and facilitate the provision of associated rewards and recognition, including for taking specific 
health & well-being actions;

• Listening & Conversations - Listen to employees, understand their needs and act. We periodically send short surveys to 
employees from an informed library of examples. Tools on how to interpret and respond to the results to improve employee 
engagement and retention;

• Updates - Reach and connect with all employees with regular, flexible communications. We deliver multimedia 
communications to all employees via mobile and web experiences in targeted ways, to inform and solicit community engagement 
and employee feedback;

• Integrations - Promote company resources, benefits and Limeade partner services. We enable measurement of 
employee perceptions of inclusion, using results to enable focused improvement activities, including the promotion and 
management of well-being champion networks and employee resource groups; and

• Actions & Insights - Measure what matters and get actionable insights from real-time dashboards.

Organizations may improve employee experience through the use of software solutions, such as those we provide – Limeade 
Well-Being and Limeade Listening. These solutions may stand alone or connect to broader employee experience platforms, for 
example those from enterprise software leader Microsoft. Actions taken by organizations to improve employee experience 
include:

• Providing an integrated program for holistic employee well-being, including physical, emotional, financial and work 
factors, focused on the employee and his or her entire experience at life and work;

• Using employee listening tools and services to measure, align, and improve culture, including listening to employee 
voices and responding with action, including organizational support for employee well-being and engagement;

• Balancing financial and non-financial benefits to make employees’ lives better through the thoughtful design of 
compensation, benefits, rewards and recognition structures; and

• Providing employee experience platforms that are well designed and integrated across mobile and desktop devices to 
deliver prescriptive solutions based on employee journeys, and ongoing communications that support and inspire employees.

A positive employee experience may enhance an organization’s culture, improving its ability to attract talent, reduce 
absenteeism and boost workforce engagement, innovation, creativity, productivity and retention. Despite these benefits, global 
leaders often report that they do not have the necessary infrastructure or resources to address adequately the complexities of the 
employee experience. A deficit of this nature, combined with a range of other trends impacting labor markets and employer 
considerations, represents an opportunity for employee experience providers to provide solutions that support leaders in 
simplifying and improving the employee experience.

Limeade solutions target all areas of well-being. Well-being is a multifaceted concept that can be broadly summarized as:

• Physical well-being: An individual’s physical health and lifestyle. Examples include self-care, exercise & fitness, 
nutrition and health conditions such as diabetes, cancer, musculoskeletal issues or heart disease;
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• Emotional well-being: An individual’s mental and emotional health and mindset. Examples include an individual’s 
ability to manage stress, anxiety and depression, be mindful and resilient, have positive relationships and believe in one’s abilities 
(self-efficacy);

• Financial well-being: An individual’s ability to control finances, handle expenses, understand and cope with financial 
stressors and reach financial goals; and

• Work well-being: An individual’s interactions at and perceptions of work. Examples include perceptions of support, 
sense of purpose and meaning, engagement and job satisfaction.

Competition

We operate in a highly competitive and dynamic industry. Our solutions face competition from a variety of organizations 
ranging from large global enterprises to small companies that focus on a particular geographical area, industry sector or solution 
category.

A range of key competitors in each solution category are presented below:

Our main competitors in the Well-Being category are ShareCare (a company that provides consumers with personalized 
health-related information, programs, and resources), Virgin Pulse (a company that focuses on engaging users every day in 
building and sustaining healthy behaviors and driving measurable outcomes for employees, employers, and health plans) and 
WebMD (online publisher of news and information pertaining to human health and well-being). Our main competitors in the 
Listening category are Qualtrics (a company that offers an online survey tool that allows one to build surveys, distribute surveys 
and analyze responses from one convenient online location), Gallup (an analytics and advisory company that offers educational 
consulting) and Momentive (a company that provides software to collect, analyze, and act on feedback for their customers).

Our Competitive Advantage

Limeade incorporates science-based insights from the fields of health, well-being, organizational psychology, behavioral 
psychology, behavioral economics and more from its Limeade Institute, combined with significant employee data generated from 
the millions of users of our solutions. This creates a continuous feedback loop that allows Limeade to continually refine its 
products to ensure they address the critical needs of organizations. Other core competitive strengths of our business include:

• ability to promote essential health & well-being benefits from third-party providers in unique ways;

• ability to infuse well-being into the flow of work, including integration with key employee experience platforms like 
Microsoft Teams and Microsoft Viva; 

• ability to serve complex global organizations; and

• ability to segment, target and communicate to employees in tailored ways about key topics, leveraging an employee 
communications platform and machine learning algorithms.

Our competitive position in the growth of the employee experience software market is driven by a variety of factors 
including: 

• the ability of our buyers to influence or control budgets;

• the uptake by enterprise customers of well-being, listening and employee experience software offerings;

• a shift from multiple independent solutions toward integrated platforms; and

• related factors such as software becoming a higher proportion of the total employee experience software and services 
market over time.

The continuation of key trends in the employee experience industry which we believe will push organizations toward a 
greater and more innovative focus on employee experience and related platforms and solutions that promote positive interactions 
with their employees. These trends include: 

▪ ongoing challenges and costs of employee emotional, physical, financial and work well-being globally;
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▪ attracting, retaining and engaging talent becoming a top strategic priority;

▪ changing employee expectations driven by ongoing workplace generational change;

▪ changing employee expectations driven by remote, hybrid and distributed work;

▪ increasing number of often separate technology systems used in the workplace;

▪ rising importance of timely insights and actions for employers – including those supported by artificial intelligence 
technologies;

▪ growing board and leadership level recognition of the need to focus on corporate culture; and

▪ increasing board and leadership level focus on ESG.

Intellectual Property

Intellectual property is an integral aspect of our business, and we seek protection for our intellectual property and 
technological innovations as appropriate. We rely upon a combination of federal, state, and common-law rights in the United 
States (“U.S.”) and the rights under the laws of other countries, trademarks, copyrights, domain name, trade secrets, including 
license agreements, and other contractual rights, to establish and protect our proprietary rights.

Regulation

Limeade is subject to certain laws and regulations in the US and around the world that involve matters central to its 
business, particularly laws and regulations relating to data security, personally identifiable information, protected health data, 
privacy, anti-corruption, intellectual property and taxation. Many of these laws and regulations are still evolving and being tested 
in courts and their interpretation and application are therefore subject to uncertainty.

In particular, compliance with data protection and privacy laws is important for Limeade in light of the sensitive and 
confidential nature of information which its platform and services process, including the personally identifiable information and 
in some cases protected health data of the users of the Limeade platform, solutions and services.

In the US, Limeade is required to comply with the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA”) and the 
Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (“HITEC”), which provide data privacy and security 
provisions for safeguarding medical information.

Most states also have in place data security laws requiring companies to maintain certain safeguards with respect to the 
processing of personal information, and all states require companies to notify individuals or government regulators in the event of 
a data breach impacting such information. The California Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”) gives residents of California 
expanded rights to access and delete their personal information, opt out of certain personal information sharing, and receive 
detailed information about how their personal information is used, and also provides for civil penalties for violations and private 
rights of action for data breaches. The California Privacy Rights Act (“CPRA”) significantly modifies the CCPA, including by 
expanding consumers’ rights with respect to certain personal information and creating a new state agency to oversee 
implementation and enforcement efforts. Many of CPRA’s provisions will become effective on January 1, 2023, with a 
“lookback” period to January 1, 2022. Other states have enacted, or are considering, privacy laws as well. Furthermore, the US 
Congress is considering numerous privacy bills, and the U.S. Federal Trade Commission continues to fine companies for unfair 
or deceptive data protection practices and may undertake its own privacy rulemaking exercise.

In addition, in the EU and United Kingdom (“UK”), Limeade must comply with the General Data Protection Regulation 
(“GDPR”) with respect to its processing of the personal data of users of its services who are residents of the EU. In this instance, 
Limeade is typically a processor of data acting upon the instructions of a data controller. The GDPR subjects Limeade to a range 
of compliance obligations. Most industrialized countries have or are in the process of adopting similar privacy or data security 
laws enforced through data protection authorities.

Given the global operations of the business, Limeade is also required to comply with anti-corruption laws, including the US 
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended (“FCPA”), and the UK Bribery Act 2010 (“UK Bribery Act”), which prohibit 
companies and their intermediaries from making improper payments for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business.

Proposed and new legislation may significantly affect the Limeade business or impose new obligations in areas affecting the 
Limeade business
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Human Capital

As of December 31, 2022, we had 323 employees, of whom 320 are full-time employees. We also employ a small number of 
contract employees and third-party contractors. We have continued to diversify every part of our company as part of our ongoing 
commitment to diversity, equity and inclusion. Rare in the technology sector, 50% of the Limeade workforce identify as women. 
Our dedicated and diverse employees are the foundation of our success. We have a highly intentional culture that provides 
opportunities for professional and personal growth.

Corporate Information

When we file or furnish information electronically with the SEC, it is also posted to our website. Our website address is 
www.limeade.com, and our investor relations website is located at https://investors.limeade.com. The information on, or that can 
be accessed through, our website is not part of, and is not incorporated into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
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ITEM 1A.    RISK FACTORS

Below is a summary of the principal factors that make an investment in our common stock speculative or risky. This 
summary does not address all of the risks that we face. Additional discussion of the risks summarized in this risk factor summary, 
and other risks that we face, can be found below after the summary and should be carefully considered, together with other 
information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and our other filings with the SEC, before making investment decisions 
regarding our common stock.

Summary of Risk Factors

Our business is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, including those risks discussed at length below. These risks 
include, among others, the following:

a. We have a history of losses. If we cannot achieve and sustain profitability, our business, operating results, and financial 
condition could be adversely affected.

b. We may need to raise additional capital required to maintain or grow our business, and we may not be able to raise 
capital on terms favorable to us or at all.

c. The market in which we participate is highly competitive; if we do not compete effectively, our business, operating 
results, and financial condition could be adversely impacted.

d. We currently generate a significant portion of our revenue from a relatively small number of organizations, the loss of 
any of which could adversely impact our business, operating results and financial condition.

e. Our business depends substantially on customers renewing their subscriptions with us. Any decline in our customer 
renewals could harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

f. If we are unable to attract new customers, our revenue growth could be slower than we expect and our business, 
operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected.

g. If we are unable to execute on our strategy to grow and stabilize, our business, operating results and financial condition 
could be adversely affected.

h. If we are not able to effectively introduce enhancements to our platform, including new products, services, features and 
functionality, that achieve market acceptance, or keep pace with technological developments, our business, operating results and 
financial condition could be adversely affected.

i. Real or perceived defects or errors on our platform could harm our reputation, result in significant costs to us and 
impair our ability to sell subscriptions to our platform and related services.

j. Unanticipated costs or delays in connection with development or implementation of our solutions could have a material 
adverse impact on our margins and, ultimately, our business, operating results and financial condition.

k. We invest significantly in research and development, and to the extent our research and development investments do 
not translate into enhancements to our platform, or if we do not make those investments efficiently, our business, operating 
results and financial condition could be adversely impacted.

l. If we fail to offer high-quality customer support, our business, operating results and financial condition could be 
adversely impacted and our reputation will suffer.

m. As a substantial portion of our sales efforts are targeted at large enterprise customers, our sales cycle may become 
increasingly lengthy and more expensive and we may encounter greater pricing pressure, all of which could adversely impact our 
business, operating results and financial condition.

n. Our revenue growth and ability to achieve and sustain profitability will depend, in part on being able to expand our 
direct sales and customer success team force and increase the productivity of both.

o. From time to time we provide performance guarantees and/or service level commitments under our customer contracts. 
If we fail to meet these contractual commitments, we could be obligated to provide credits or refunds for prepaid amounts related 
to unused subscription services or face contract terminations, which could adversely affect our business, operating results and 
financial condition.
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p. Unfavorable conditions in our industry or the economy more generally or reductions in information technology 
spending could limit our ability to grow our business and adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

q. Our business depends on the strength of our reputation, and any failure to maintain, protect, and enhance our brand 
would hurt our ability to retain or expand our customer base, to attract and retain employees and to achieve our growth 
aspirations.

r. Our customers may fail to pay us in accordance with the terms of their agreements, necessitating action by us to compel 
payment.

s. Our business depends largely on our ability to attract and retain talented employees, including senior management. If 
we lose the services of the members of our senior management team, we may not be able to execute on our business strategy.

t. Our corporate culture has contributed to our success, and if we cannot maintain this culture, we could lose the 
innovation, creativity, and teamwork fostered by our culture, and our business may be harmed.

u. Our level of indebtedness may reduce our financial flexibility.

v. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, including the resulting global economic disruptions, remains uncertain at this 
time, and it may have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations, financial condition, liquidity and cash 
flows. 

w. If our security measures are breached and customers’ data are compromised, our offerings may be perceived as 
insecure, we may incur significant liabilities, our reputation may be harmed and we could lose sales and customers.

x. We process, store, and use personal information and other data, which subjects us to governmental regulation and other 
legal obligations related to privacy, and violation of these privacy obligations could result in a claim for damages, regulatory 
action, loss of business, or unfavorable publicity.

y. Any disruption of service of Microsoft Azure (Azure) or Amazon Web Services (AWS), our data hosting services, or 
the operation of our solutions could interrupt or delay our ability to deliver our services to our customers.

z. Our intellectual property rights are valuable, and failure to protect them could reduce the value of our products, 
services, and brand.

aa. We may become subject to intellectual property infringement claims brought against us by others.

ab. We employ third-party licensed software for use in or with our software, and the inability to maintain these licenses or 
errors in the software we license could result in increased costs or reduced service levels, which could adversely affect our 
business.

ac. Our platform contains open-source software components, and failure to comply with the terms of the underlying 
licenses could restrict our ability to sell our platform.

ad. Indemnity provisions in various agreements potentially expose us to substantial liability for intellectual property 
infringement and other losses.

ae. Because we recognize revenue from our subscriptions over the subscription term, downturns or upturns in new sales 
and renewals may not be immediately reflected in our operating results and may be difficult to discern. In addition, pricing 
options we may offer could reduce visibility into our operating results and financial condition.

af. Our operating results may fluctuate from period-to-period, which makes our future results difficult to predict.

ag. We may not have adequate insurance to cover losses and liabilities. 

ah. We will incur significant costs and are subject to additional regulations and requirements as a public company in both 
Australia and the US, including compliance with the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the requirements of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the listing standards of ASX and any U.S. securities exchange on which our shares may become listed 
for trading. In addition, key members of our management team have limited experience managing a public company.

ai. Adverse litigation judgments or settlements resulting from legal proceedings in which we may be involved could 
expose us to monetary damages or limit our ability to operate our business.
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Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

We have a history of losses, and although we aim to stabilize/lower our operating expenses in the future, we still may not 
achieve or sustain profitability. If we cannot achieve and sustain profitability, our business, operating results, and financial 
condition could be adversely affected.

We have incurred net losses in each fiscal year since inception, expect to incur net losses for the foreseeable future, and may 
not achieve or sustain profitability in the future. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, we incurred net losses of 
$13.2 million and $10.0 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2022, we had an accumulated deficit of $62.6 million. We 
expect that our operating expenses will decrease in 2023 due to a 15% reduction in force that occurred in January 2023. We 
believe this will result in a $7.0 million annualized decrease to operating expenses along with additional expense reductions. 
These savings may be partially offset as we seek to grow our business, attract new customers, and further enhance and develop 
our products and platform. These efforts may prove more expensive than we currently anticipate, and we may not succeed in 
increasing our revenue sufficiently, or at all, to offset these possible higher expenses. If our revenue declines or fails to grow at a 
rate faster than these decreases in our operating expenses, we may not be able to achieve or sustain profitability in future periods. 
As a result, we may continue to generate losses. We cannot assure you that we will achieve profitability in the future or that, if we 
do become profitable, we will be able to sustain profitability in any given period, or at all.

We may need to raise additional capital required to grow our business, and we may not be able to raise capital on terms 
favorable to us or at all.

We expect that our existing cash and cash equivalents, together with borrowing under our Credit Facility as described in 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations--Liquidity and Capital Resources”, 
will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs and business objectives for the next 12 months. Our future capital 
requirements will depend on many factors, including our subscription growth rate, subscription renewal activity, the timing and 
the amount of cash received from subscribers, the timing and extent of spending to support development efforts, the expansion of 
sales and marketing activities, the introduction of new and enhanced product offerings, and the continuing market adoption of our 
employee experience platform and integrated solutions. We intend to consider targeted investments to support our business 
growth and the stabilization of the business. This may require additional capital to fund our business and to respond to 
competitive challenges, including the need to promote our products and services, develop new products and services, enhance our 
existing products, services, and operating infrastructure, and potentially to acquire complementary businesses and technologies. 
Moreover, in the future we may enter into arrangements to acquire or invest in complementary businesses, services, and 
technologies. Accordingly, we will need to engage in equity or debt financings to secure additional funds. Any such additional 
funding may not be available on terms attractive to us, or at all. Our inability to obtain additional funding when needed could 
have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. If additional funds are raised through the 
issuance of equity or convertible debt securities, holders of our common stock or CDIs could suffer significant dilution, and any 
new shares we issue could have rights, preferences, and privileges superior to those of our common stock (and by extension, our 
CDIs). Any debt financing secured by us in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital raising activities 
and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue 
business opportunities, including potential acquisitions. 

The market in which we participate is highly competitive; if we do not compete effectively, our business, operating 
results, and financial condition could be adversely impacted.

The market for enterprise well-being, listening, and employee experience solutions is highly competitive, with relatively low 
barriers to entry for some applications and services. Our performance is influenced by a number of competitive factors including 
the success and awareness of the Limeade brand, the performance and innovation of our platform and solutions and the 
willingness of enterprise customers to purchase our solutions over those of our competitors.

Our primary competitors for our Well-Being solution include Virgin Pulse, ShareCare and WebMD and for our Listening 
solution include Qualtrics, Gallup and Momentive, all of which are larger and may have greater name recognition, access to 
larger customer bases, larger marketing budgets, and significantly greater resources to devote to the development, promotion, and 
sale of their products and services than we do. This may allow our competitors to respond more effectively than us to new or 
emerging technologies and changes in market conditions.

The broader employee experience industry is subject to domestic and global competition across the range of solution 
categories, which may increase or change over time and impact our ability to execute our business and strategy. Competition may 
require us to lower pricing or incur additional research and development, marketing and other costs to remain competitive. For 
example, there is a risk that:
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• We may fail to anticipate and adapt to technology changes or customer expectations at the same rate as our 
competitors;

• Existing competitors could increase their competitive position through aggressive marketing, product innovation, 
stronger brand awareness and/or price discounting;

• Existing or new competitors could offer software at lower prices, which may affect our ability to sustain or increase 
prices and attract or retain customers;

• Existing or new competitors could develop channel relationships with consultants or other vendors who influence 
purchase decisions in ways disadvantageous to Limeade;

• Customers who currently utilize software systems offered by existing competitors (including local operators in specific 
markets or those with a greater market share in certain markets), may be satisfied with such solutions, or have onerous 
termination clauses, or may determine that it is prohibitively costly and/or time consuming to adopt our platform and solutions; 

• New competitors, including large global corporations or large software vendors operating in adjacent industries, may 
enter the market. These corporations may have greater financial and other resources to apply to R&D and sales and marketing, 
which may enable them to expand in the employee experience industry more aggressively than us and/or better withstand any 
downturns in the market; or

• Existing and prospective customers, particularly large enterprises, may elect to develop their own internal solutions.

Further, our reputation could be adversely impacted by a number of factors, including adverse performance of our solutions, 
third-party actions such as disputes or litigation, actions of our employees, non-compliance with laws and other matters described 
in this risk section. These factors may result in adverse media or industry coverage. Damage to our reputation may encourage 
existing or potential clients to seek services from competitors which may have an adverse impact on our business, operating 
results and financial condition.

We currently generate a significant portion of our revenue from a relatively small number of organizations, the loss of 
any of which could adversely impact our business, operating results and financial condition. 

Although we continue to pursue a broad customer base, we are dependent on a small number of large customers with strong 
purchasing power. Our top 10 customers accounted for 36% of the revenue in fiscal year 2022 and 2021. The loss of business 
from any of the major customers (whether by lower overall demand for our products or cancellation of existing contracts or 
award us new business) could have a material adverse effect on our business.

The relatively meaningful nature of the above top customers means the loss of one or more of these customers could have a 
material impact on our operating performance and financial condition. In addition to the risk of contract termination, there is a 
risk that upon contract renewal we may not be able to secure the same, or improved, rates and contract terms. In the event of 
contract termination or renewal on less favorable terms, we may not be able replace the loss in revenue. This could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our business depends substantially on customers renewing their subscriptions with us. Any decline in our customer 
renewals could harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

In order for us to maintain or improve our operating results, it is important that our customers renew their subscriptions with 
us when their existing subscription term expires. We cannot assure you that customers will renew their subscriptions upon 
expiration at the same or higher level of service, if at all.

Our net retention rate was approximately 86% and 79% as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Although our net 
retention rate has increased in recent quarters, we have also experienced periods where it has decreased and it may decline or 
fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, including our customers’ satisfaction with our services, the effectiveness of our 
customer support services, the performance of our partners and resellers, our pricing, the prices of competing products or 
services, mergers and acquisitions affecting our customer base, our ability to execute on our product roadmap, and the effects of 
global economic conditions, including the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, supply chain disruptions, the Ukraine-Russia 
war, increases in energy prices, inflationary pressures and a recession or fears of a recession, any or all of which could lead to 
reductions in our customers’ spending levels. If our customers do not renew their subscriptions, terminate at anniversary, renew 
them on less favorable terms, or fail to purchase new product offerings, our revenue may decline, and we may not realize 
improved operating results from our customer base.
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While we strive to limit the number of customers who retain the right to terminate service at any time for convenience, some 
customers possess this right. This introduces risk to our ability to maintain our current customer base. Existing customers who do 
not have a right to terminate at anytime for convenience may also choose to terminate their contracts at the end of their current 
terms as most of our contracts can be terminated at each contract anniversary. Of our 1,060 customers as of December 31, 2022, 
approximately 1% have the ability to terminate for convenience at any time during the contract and these customers account for 
28% of our total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2022.

If we are unable to attract new customers, our revenue growth could be slower than we expect and our business, 
operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected.

Our ability to attract new customers depends on many factors including the adequacy of our employee experience solutions 
with respect to matters such as functionality, reliability, pricing, customer support and ability to demonstrate superior value when 
compared to competing products and services. One such factor is whether employees use the solutions: if we are unable to drive 
higher usage among employees, we may face challenges demonstrating to customers and potential customers the positive impact 
of our services on their businesses.

Our future revenue growth depends on the overall growth of the well-being, listening and employee experience markets and 
the increasing adoption and use of SaaS-based software solutions to serve those markets. If the employee experience market or its 
component solution markets fail to grow as expected, or if we fail to persuade potential customers to adopt SaaS and cloud-based 
employee experience solutions like ours, then our revenue growth may slow, which could negatively impact our business, 
operating results and financial condition.

To the extent we are unsuccessful in increasing our customer base, we could also incur increased losses as costs associated 
with marketing programs and new products intended to attract new customers would not be offset by incremental revenue and 
cash flow. Catastrophic events like the COVID-19 pandemic, geopolitical instability, natural disasters, or further deterioration in 
economic conditions may financially impact our existing and prospective customers and cause them to delay or reduce their 
technology spending, lead to a prolonged decline in demand for our services, and may adversely affect our business, operating 
results, and financial condition.

If we are unable to execute on our strategy to grow and stabilize, our business, operating results and financial condition 
could be adversely affected.

Our future performance will largely be contingent upon our ability to execute on our strategy to moderately grow the 
business while reducing expenses in order to stabilize the business. This strategy is focused on:

• Acquiring new customers by leveraging prior investments and partnerships in our core markets;

• Expansions and upsells to existing customers;

• Reducing operating expenses; and

• Streamlining operational processes to further reduce expense.

Failure of part or all of the strategy would adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition. 

Our core offerings are software-based well-being and engagement solutions - Limeade Well-Being and Limeade Listening. 
The majority of our current revenues are generated from Limeade Well-Being. We believe that there is a broader and larger 
market opportunity in providing additional integrated solutions that serve both to elevate company culture and increase employee 
and company performance. Some providers who operate in only one of the various solution categories have seen success 
combining solutions in a single platform. This newness makes it more difficult to fully and accurately evaluate the market 
opportunity and business prospects and to comprehensively assess the risks and challenges we may be exposed to, than would be 
the case for a long-established market or business. No assurance can be given that we will achieve our objectives, deliver 
expected returns or ultimately be profitable. 

In January 2023, we announced a restructuring plan to reduce our workforce by 15% which we believe will result in $7.0M 
of annualized savings. We are also evaluating additional operational areas of the business that could be streamlined and provide 
additional future savings.

If we are not able to effectively introduce enhancements to our platform, including new products, services, features and 
functionality, that achieve market acceptance, or keep pace with technological developments, our business, operating results 
and financial condition could be adversely affected.
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Our industry is marked by rapid technological developments, including technology focused on artificial intelligence and 
machine learning, and new and enhanced applications and services. If we are unable to enhance our existing services or offer new 
services that achieve market acceptance or keep pace with rapid technological developments by, for example, identifying and 
investing in enhanced technologies that match and predict market demands, our business could be adversely affected. The success 
of any new applications, services or enhancements to our existing products and services depends on several factors, including 
their timely completion, implementation, adoption, and market acceptance.

Developing compelling solutions and the adoption of these solutions by new and existing customers may take longer than 
we expect, which would have a corresponding impact on the development and maturity of new revenue sources. Further, new 
competitive third-party technologies could prove to be more advanced or more compelling for customers or could be 
commercialized more quickly than our comparable products and solutions. This is particularly the case in the employee 
experience software industry, where we believe that the timing for releasing features and solutions is an important factor in 
success. Acquiring technological talent and expertise to develop new technologies for our business may require us to incur 
significant expenses and capital costs.

Even with an appropriate and predictable period for development and adoption, our new solutions or features may not be 
well received by customers, which could result in a corresponding lack of adoption. Further, the launch of new solutions also 
carries operational risks. For instance, if we are unable to develop appropriate and effective sales channels for new solutions, we 
may not be able to successfully attract customers to those solutions at appropriate pricing, which could have an adverse impact on 
our business, operating results and financial condition.

Real or perceived defects or errors on our platform could harm our reputation, result in significant costs to us and impair 
our ability to sell subscriptions to our platform and related services.

We may fail to adequately maintain our employee experience platform integrated and solutions and any updates may 
introduce errors and performance issues, which could cause customers’ satisfaction with our platform and solutions to decline. 
Customer satisfaction may also decline as a result of real or perceived reductions in functionality, integration capability, product 
quality, reliability, cost-effectiveness, and customer support for our platform and solutions, or a failure to accommodate and 
reflect changes and developments in technology or in the commercial and regulatory environments in which we operate. Any of 
these factors may result in reduced sales and usage, loss of customers, damage to reputation, an inability to attract new clients or 
expand business with existing customers, and potentially claims for breach of contract.

Our future revenue and growth also depend on our ability to develop enhancements and new features and products for our 
platform and solutions so that our customers’ needs continue to be met, and so that we can continue to attract new customers and 
generate additional revenue from existing customers. The development and introduction of new features and modules and 
products may not be successful, due to various factors including insufficient investment, unforeseen costs, poor performance and 
reliability, low customer acceptance, existing competition and economic and market conditions. The failure to develop successful 
new solutions, products or features may materially adversely impact our business, operating results and financial condition.

Unanticipated costs or delays in connection with development or implementation of our solutions could have a material 
adverse impact on our margins and, ultimately, our business, operating results and financial condition.

We estimate the expected cost and associated revenue of our solutions in advance of the formal launch with a customer, the 
timing of which is dependent upon assumptions, estimates and judgments which may ultimately prove to be inaccurate, unreliable 
or outside of our control and give rise to unanticipated costs or delays. For example, during the course of product implementation, 
there may be errors and omissions, unforeseen technical issues, inadequate contractual arrangements or changing customer 
timelines. Should significant unanticipated costs arise, this could have a material adverse impact on our margins and, ultimately, 
our business, operating results and financial condition.

We invest significantly in research and development, and to the extent our research and development investments do not 
translate into enhancements to our platform, or if we do not make those investments efficiently, our business, operating 
results and financial condition could be adversely impacted.

Innovative product development is critical to our growth. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, our research 
and development expenses were $22.1 million and $20.4 million, respectively. Although developing software is expensive, we 
believe we must continue to dedicate resources to remain an innovative software company. We may not, however, receive 
significant revenue from these investments for several years, or may not realize such benefits at all. Further, we capitalize certain 
development costs, which are amortized over their useful economic lives, in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Any decrease in the 
amount of costs capitalized over time, or impairment of assets required to be made, may have an adverse impact on our business, 
operating results and financial condition.
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If we fail to offer high-quality customer support, our business, operating results and financial condition could be 
adversely impacted and our reputation will suffer.

Once our platform is deployed to our customers, our customers rely on our support services to resolve any related issues. 
High-quality customer education and customer support is critical to the successful marketing and sale of our products and our 
efforts to expand business with existing customers. The importance of high-quality customer support will increase as we expand 
our business and pursue new organizations. If we do not help our customers quickly resolve post-deployment issues and provide 
effective ongoing customer support, our ability to maintain customer relationships and expand business with our existing 
customers could suffer and our reputation with existing or potential customers could be harmed, all of which could adversely 
impact our business, operating results and financial condition.

As a substantial portion of our sales efforts are targeted at large enterprise customers, our sales cycle may become 
increasingly lengthy and more expensive and we may encounter greater pricing pressure, all of which could adversely impact 
our business, operating results and financial condition.

Because a substantial portion of our sales efforts are increasingly targeted at large enterprise customers, we face greater 
costs, longer sales cycles, and less predictability in the completion of some of our sales. Larger organizations typically have 
longer decision-making cycles, require greater functionality and scalability, expect a broader range of services, demand that 
vendors take on a larger share of risks, demand higher levels of customer service and support, and expect greater payment 
flexibility from vendors. We typically are required to spend time and resources to familiarize potential customers with the value 
proposition of our platform and solutions, and this can often take longer with large enterprise customers. As a result of these 
factors, sales opportunities with large organizations may require us to devote greater sales and administrative support and 
professional services resources to individual customers, which could increase our costs, lengthen our sales cycle, and divert our 
own sales and professional services resources to a smaller number of larger customers. We may spend substantial time, effort, 
and money in our sales efforts without being successful in producing any sales. All these factors can add further risk to business 
conducted with these customers. In addition, if sales expected from a large customer for a particular quarter or year are not 
realized in that quarter or year or at all, our business, operating results and financial condition could be materially and adversely 
affected.

Our revenue growth and ability to achieve and sustain profitability will depend, in part on being able to expand our direct 
sales and customer success team force and increase the productivity of both.

We believe that our future growth will depend on the continued recruiting, retention and training of our direct sales team and 
their ability to obtain new customers and our customer success team and their ability to manage our existing customer base. Our 
ability to achieve significant growth in revenue in the future will depend, in part, on our success in recruiting, training and 
retaining a sufficient number of inside sales and customer success personnel. New hires require significant training and may, in 
some cases, take more than a year before becoming productive, if at all. However, given there was a restructuring in January 
2023, it will be increasingly difficult to hire new people. If we are unable to hire and develop a sufficient number of productive 
members of our sales team, including in geographies where we seek to expand, sales of our platform and solutions will suffer. 
Any of these events could impede our growth and materially harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

From time to time we provide performance guarantees and/or service level commitments under our customer contracts. If 
we fail to meet these contractual commitments, we could be obligated to provide credits or refunds for prepaid amounts related 
to unused subscription services or face contract terminations, which could adversely affect our business, operating results and 
financial condition.

Our customer contracts typically provide for service level commitments, which relate to annual uptime, certain response 
times and other factors, including product usage and value. If we are unable to meet the stated service level commitments or 
suffer extended periods of unavailability for our platform, we may be contractually obligated to provide these customers with 
service credits, refunds for prepaid amounts related to unused subscription services, or other remedies, or we could face contract 
terminations. In addition, we could face legal claims for breach of contract, tort, or breach of warranty. Although we typically 
have contractual protections, such as warranty disclaimers and limitation of liability provisions, in our customer agreements, they 
may not fully or effectively protect us from claims by customers or other third parties. Our ability to deliver our services depends 
in part on our relationships with third party vendors, such as cloud service providers. We may not be fully indemnified by our 
vendors for service interruptions that are beyond our control, and any insurance coverage we may have may not adequately cover 
all claims asserted against us or cover only a portion of such claims. In addition, even claims that ultimately are unsuccessful 
could result in our expenditure of funds in litigation and divert management’s time and other resources. As such, our revenue 
could be adversely impacted if we fail to meet our service level commitments under our agreements with our customers, 
including, but not limited to, support response times and service outages. Although we have not been required to provide 
customers with service credits that have been material to our operating results historically, we cannot assure you that we will not 
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incur material costs associated with providing service credits to our customers in the future. Therefore, any failure to meet our 
service level commitments could adversely impact our reputation, business, operating results and financial condition.

Unfavorable conditions in our industry or the economy more generally or reductions in information technology spending 
could limit our ability to grow our business and adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our operating results may vary based on the impact of changes in our industry or the economy more generally on us or our 
customers. Our business and operating results depend on demand for information technology generally and for customer 
experience software solutions in particular, which in turn is influenced by the scale of business that our customers are conducting. 
Weak economic conditions, either in the U.S. or internationally, including as a result of recessions, the fear of recession, or other 
adverse economic changes, financial and credit market fluctuations, political turmoil, natural catastrophes, domestic or 
geopolitical crises, such as terrorism, military conflict, including the continuing war between Russia and Ukraine, rise in energy 
prices, or the perception that hostilities may be imminent, and public health crises, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, and related 
public health measures, could cause a decrease in business investments, including spending on information technology generally 
and employee experience software solutions in particular. The extent to which global pandemics impact our financial condition or 
results of operations will depend on factors such as the duration and scope of the pandemic, as well as whether there is a material 
impact on the businesses or productivity of our customers, employees, associates and other partners. To the extent that weak 
economic conditions cause our existing customers or potential customers to reduce their budget for employee experience 
solutions or to perceive spending on such systems as discretionary, demand for our platform and solutions may be adversely 
affected. Moreover, customers and potential customers may require extended billing terms and other financial concessions, which 
would limit our ability to grow our business and adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our business depends on the strength of our reputation, and any failure to maintain, protect, and enhance our brand 
would hurt our ability to retain or expand our customer base, to attract and retain employees and to achieve our growth 
aspirations.

Maintaining the strength of our reputation is an important aspect in retaining and growing our business and successfully 
executing our strategy. Any negative publicity relating to our employees, customers, partners, or others associated with these 
parties, may impact our reputation with customers and in the market generally. This may adversely impact our ability to retain 
and expand our customer base, to attract and retain employees, and to achieve our growth aspirations, which may have a material 
adverse impact on our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our customers may fail to pay us in accordance with the terms of their agreements, necessitating action by us to compel 
payment.

We typically enter into agreements with a term of three years with our customers but the substantial majority of these 
contracts allow the customer to terminate at the anniversaries without penalty. If customers fail to pay us under the terms of our 
agreements, we may be adversely affected both due to the inability to collect amounts due and the costs of enforcing the terms of 
our contracts, including litigation. The risk of such negative effects increases with the term length of our customer arrangements. 
Furthermore, some of our customers may seek bankruptcy protection or other similar relief and fail to pay amounts due to us, or 
pay those amounts in an untimely manner, either of which could adversely affect our operating results, financial position, and 
cash flow. Moreover, as a result of the current economic conditions and the ongoing recession, some existing customers have 
negotiated, and others may attempt to renegotiate, contracts and obtain concessions, including, among other things, longer 
payment terms or modified subscription dates, or may fail to make payments on their existing contracts, which may materially 
and negatively impact our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our business depends largely on our ability to attract and retain talented employees, including senior management. If we 
lose the services of the members of our senior management team, we may not be able to execute on our business strategy.

We rely on the talent, effort, expertise, industry experience and contacts, and leadership of our management. The retention 
of senior management cannot be guaranteed, and the loss of any senior members of management and the inability to recruit 
suitable replacements may negatively impact our business, operating results and financial condition.

Separate from the management team, we may be unable to attract and retain suitable personnel for non-management 
positions, which could restrict our ability to grow. Further, the majority of our employees reside in the U.S. and are employed “at 
will.” This means that any such employees can terminate their employment at any time with or without notice. An inability to 
attract and retain top talent in a number of positions critical to our business strategy may have an adverse impact on our business, 
operating results and financial condition.
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In addition, job candidates and existing employees often consider the value of the equity awards they receive in connection 
with their employment. If the value of our shares or CDIs declines, which it has since our initial public offering on the ASX in 
December 2019, it may adversely affect our ability to hire or retain skilled employees.

Our corporate culture has contributed to our success, and if we cannot maintain this culture as we grow, we could lose 
the innovation, creativity, and teamwork fostered by our culture, and our business may be harmed.

We believe that our corporate culture has been a key contributor to our success. We have worked to develop our culture, and 
we strive to empower our employees to continuously learn, evolve, and grow, and treat each other with respect. If we do not 
continue intentionally to develop our corporate culture as we grow and evolve, including maintaining a culture that encourages a 
sense of ownership by our employees, it could harm our ability to foster the innovation, creativity, and teamwork we believe that 
we need to support our growth. As we grow and we are required to implement more complex organizational structures, we may 
find it increasingly difficult to maintain the beneficial aspects of our corporate culture, which could negatively impact our future 
success. In addition, potential liquidity events could create disparities of wealth among our employees, which could adversely 
impact relations among employees and our corporate culture in general. In addition, we completed an employee workforce 
reduction in January 2023, which may continue to impact the attraction and retention of employees, as well as employee morale 
and productivity. 

Our level of indebtedness may reduce our financial flexibility.

We intend to fund our capital expenditures primarily through cash flow from operations and, if necessary, borrowings under 
available credit facilities and alternative debt or equity financings. As of December 31, 2022, we have total debt outstanding with 
a carrying amount of $2.5 million and net loan availability of $3.4 million. Our level of debt could adversely affect our business 
and results of operations in several important ways, including the following:

a. a portion of our cash flow from operations would be used to pay interest and principal on borrowings;

b. the covenants contained in available credit facilities limit our ability to borrow additional funds, dispose of assets or 
otherwise may affect our flexibility in planning for, and reacting to, changes in general business and economic conditions;

c. a high level of debt may impair our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working capital, capital 
expenditures, acquisitions, general corporate or other purposes;

d. a leveraged financial position would make us more vulnerable to economic downturns and could limit our ability to 
withstand competitive pressures; and

e. any debt that we incur under our existing revolving credit facility will be at variable rates which could make us 
vulnerable to an increase in interest rates.

Severe weather, natural disasters, global pandemics, acts of war or terrorism, theft, civil unrest, government 
expropriation or other external events could have significant effects on our business.

Severe weather and natural disasters, including hurricanes, tornados, earthquakes, fires, droughts and floods, acts of war or 
terrorism (such as the Russia’s recent invasion of Ukraine), epidemics and global pandemics (such as the outbreak of 
COVID-19), theft, civil unrest, government expropriation, condemnation or other external events in the markets where our apps 
are available for download or where our customers live could have a significant effect on our ability to conduct business. Such 
events could deposit base, cause significant property damage, impair employee productivity, result in loss of revenue and/or 
cause us to incur additional expenses. The occurrence of any such event could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
which, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition.

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, including the resulting global economic disruptions, remains uncertain at this 
time, and it may have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations, financial condition, liquidity and cash 
flows.

The COVID-19 pandemic has caused general business disruption worldwide beginning in January 2020. In September 2022 
we began re-opening certain of our offices and have invited employees to return to work on a voluntary basis. While employee 
health and safety remain a top priority, permitting employees to return to work may expose them to increased health risks which 
could negatively impact productivity and employee morale. Although there has been an easing of restrictions in many 
jurisdictions, some or all of those restrictions could be reinstated in the future to manage a resurgence or new outbreak of 
COVID-19.
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The extent to which COVID-19 (including any variants) continues to impact our results and financial position will depend 
on future developments, which are uncertain and difficult to predict. 

Risks Related to Cybersecurity, Data Privacy and Intellectual Property

If our security measures are breached and customers’ data are compromised, our offerings may be perceived as insecure, 
we may incur significant liabilities, our reputation may be harmed and we could lose sales and customers.

Our platform and solutions may be subject to viruses, cyber-attacks or unauthorized access to our systems, as well as the 
system failure of our cloud vendors or other negative events which could render our platform unavailable for a period of time or 
result in the loss, theft or corruption of sensitive data. The effects of any such event could extend to reputational damage, 
regulatory scrutiny, claims from affected customers and their employees and government fines. Such circumstances could 
materially negatively impact our ability to achieve our financial and operational performance positions or prospects.

In addition, the solutions provided by us and our third-party partners store, analyze, process, handle and transmit information 
that is confidential, proprietary and commercially sensitive. This information includes personally identifiable information, 
sensitive personal data and personal health information of end users of these services. There is a risk that the measures we take to 
protect such information will not be sufficient to prevent unauthorized access or disclosure of such information which could 
cause adverse publicity, government enforcement actions or private civil litigation, all of which could have a material adverse 
impact on our reputation, operating results and financial condition.

While we have an insurance policy for cyber risks, it is subject to a policy limit which may not be adequate to cover all 
exposure arising from cyber security breaches. In addition, any significant claim against such a policy may lead to increased 
premium on renewal and/or additional exclusions to the terms of future policies. If insurance (including cyber insurance) is not 
available to cover a claim or the amount of a claim exceeds policy limits, we will be exposed to the financial impact of the event 
which could have an adverse impact on our business, operating results and financial condition.

Further, certain of our third-party vendors, such as cloud service providers, may receive and store information provided by 
us, our customers or the end users of our employee experience solutions. If third-party vendors fail to adopt or adhere to effective 
security practices, or there is a breach of their security systems, confidential information (including personally identifiable 
information and personal health information of employees of our customers and other end users) may be improperly accessed, 
used or disclosed which could have an adverse impact on our reputation, operating results and financial condition.

We process, store, and use personal information and other data, which subjects us to governmental regulation and other 
legal obligations related to privacy, and violation of these privacy obligations could result in a claim for damages, regulatory 
action, loss of business, or unfavorable publicity.

We and our platform and solutions are subject to various laws, regulations and industry compliance requirements, which 
often vary significantly between jurisdictions, including in relation to privacy, data protection and data processing. We collect, 
process and disclose personally identifiable information (including personal health information), and are therefore subject to 
complex and evolving local, national and foreign laws and regulations regarding data protection, privacy, consumer protection 
and other matters. For example, in the U.S., we are required to comply with HIPAA and HITEC, which provide data privacy and 
security provisions for safeguarding medical information. In addition, the GDPR imposes stringent requirements on the security, 
protection and disclosure of EU personal data, including on cross-border restrictions outside of the EU and provides for 
significant penalties for non-compliance. In addition, any laws and regulations, including privacy and data protection laws and 
regulations are in a state of flux and are subject to changing and inconsistent interpretation.

Following the EU’s passage of the GDPR, which became effective in May 2018, the global data privacy compliance 
landscape outside of the EU has grown increasingly complex, fragmented, and financially relevant to business operations. As a 
result, our business faces current and prospective risks related to increased regulatory compliance costs, government enforcement 
actions and/or financial penalties for non-compliance, and reputational harm. For example, in July 2020, the Court of Justice of 
the EU invalidated a framework called Privacy Shield for companies to transfer data from the European Economic Area to the 
US. This decision led to uncertainty about the legal requirements for transferring customer personal data to and from Europe, an 
integral process of our business that remains governed by, and subject to, GDPR requirements. Failure to comply with the GDPR 
data processing requirements by either ourselves or our subcontractors could lead to regulatory enforcement actions, which can 
result in monetary penalties of up to 4% of worldwide revenue, private lawsuits, reputational damage, and loss of customers. The 
UK government is considering amending its data protection legislation. If UK data protection changes significantly from EU 
norms, new data flow barriers could emerge, creating costs and complexity for companies. Other countries such as Russia, China, 
and India have also passed or are considering passing laws imposing varying degrees of restrictive data residency requirements. 
Regulatory developments in the US present additional risks. For example, the CCPA took effect on January 1, 2020, and the 
CPRA, which expands upon the CCPA, was passed in November 2020 and came into effect on January 1, 2023, with a 
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“lookback” period to January 1, 2022. The CCPA and CPRA give California consumers certain rights similar to those provided 
by the GDPR, and also provide for statutory damages or fines on a per violation basis that could be very large depending on the 
severity of the violation. Other states have enacted, or are considering, privacy laws as well. Furthermore, the U.S. Congress is 
considering numerous privacy bills, and the U.S. Federal Trade Commission continues to fine companies for unfair or deceptive 
data protection practices and may undertake its own privacy rulemaking exercise. In addition to government activity, privacy 
advocacy and other industry groups have established or may establish various new, additional, or different self-regulatory 
standards that customers may require us to adhere to and which may place additional burdens on us. Increasing sensitivity of 
individuals to unauthorized processing of personal data, whether real or perceived, and an increasingly uncertain trust climate 
may create a negative public reaction to technologies, products and services such as ours.

Compliance costs with respect to the laws and regulations, including the foregoing, and any future laws and regulations, may 
become onerous and any failure to comply may result in fines, litigation, investigations and significant reputational damage. 
Compliance obligations may also divert management’s attention from the day-to-day operation of the business. Any such results 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial performance, position and prospects.

There is also a risk that measures taken us to address current, new or changing laws are insufficient to comply with material 
obligations under these laws or to adequately respond to a data breach in accordance with relevant regulatory requirements and 
that we may not be materially compliant with all such obligations in all material respects. This could lead to claims and/or 
litigation, monetary penalties and fines, reputational damage and restrictions on carrying on business in certain jurisdictions, and 
of which could adversely affect our financial performance, position or prospects.

Any disruption of service of Microsoft Azure (Azure) or Amazon Web Services (AWS), our data hosting services, or the 
operation of our solutions could interrupt or delay our ability to deliver our services to our customers.

We rely on contracts with third-party vendors to maintain and support our IT infrastructure. In particular, we rely on Azure 
and AWS for the provision of cloud infrastructure and hosting services. Some of these contracts are not long term in nature and 
could be terminated on notice by counterparties. If these critical relationships are terminated or suffer a disruption in the future 
and we are not able to replace or accommodate those events in a timely and cost-effective manner, our operating results and 
financial condition may be adversely impacted.

Our business and reputation depend on the real-time performance, reliability and availability of our platform and solutions. 
These may fail to perform as expected or be adversely impacted by several factors, some of which may be outside of our control, 
including equipment faults, power failure, fire, natural disasters, computer viruses and external malicious interventions such as 
hacking, ransomware or denial-of-service attacks.

Our operational processes and contingency plans may not adequately address every potential event, which may impact 
relationships with customers or users and may adversely impact business, financial performance and reputation. Further, 
continued increases in the number of users on our platform and solutions may require the expanded usage of cloud computing 
resources. This could adversely impact our operating results and financial condition.

Our intellectual property rights are valuable, and failure to protect them could reduce the value of our products, services, 
and brand.

We rely on our intellectual property rights to maintain and grow our business and there is a risk that we may fail to 
adequately protect our rights for a number of reasons. For instance, we may be unable to detect the unauthorized use or 
misappropriation of our intellectual property rights. It may also be the case that certain actions taken to protect our intellectual 
property (such as in-house software development, data encryption, access controls, training, contractual prohibitions etc.) will not 
be adequate, effective or enforceable and may not prevent the misuse or misappropriation of these assets.

Any threatened or actual breach of our intellectual property rights could result in litigation or administrative proceedings, 
which, even if successful, are often costly, time consuming and difficult to enforce. Any failure by us to protect our intellectual 
property may have an adverse impact on our ability to compete, our business, operating results and financial condition.

We may become subject to intellectual property infringement claims brought against us by others.

There is a risk that third parties may allege that our solutions use intellectual property derived by them or from their products 
without their consent or permission. We may be the subject of claims which could result in disputes or litigation, which could 
result in the payment of monetary damages, cause delays and increase costs, which in turn could have an adverse impact on our 
operations, reputation, operating results and financial condition.
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We employ third-party licensed software for use in or with our software, and the inability to maintain these licenses or 
errors in the software we license could result in increased costs or reduced service levels, which could adversely affect our 
business.

Our software utilizes certain third-party software obtained under licenses. We anticipate that we will continue to rely on 
such software and development tools licensed from third parties in the future. Although we believe that there are commercially 
reasonable alternatives to the third-party software we currently license, this may not always be the case, or it may be difficult or 
costly to migrate to alternative solutions. Also, any undetected errors or defects in third-party software could prevent the 
deployment or impair the functionality of our platform, delay new updates or enhancements to our platform, result in a failure of 
our platform, and injure our reputation.

Our platform contains open-source software components, and failure to comply with the terms of the underlying licenses 
could restrict our ability to sell our platform.

Software code that is freely shared in the software development community is referred to as open-source code, and software 
applications built from open-source code are referred to as open-source software. Our solutions incorporate certain open-source 
software and we may continue to use open-source software in our platform in the future. Open-source software is generally 
licensed by its authors or other third parties under open-source licenses. Use and distribution of open-source software may entail 
greater risks than use of third party commercial software, as open-source licensors generally do not provide warranties or other 
contractual protections regarding infringement claims or the quality of the code. If we combine our proprietary software with 
open-source software in a certain manner, it could, under certain open-source licenses, be required to release the source code of 
our proprietary software to the public. This would allow our competitors to create similar services and platforms with lower 
development effort and time and ultimately could reduce or eliminate our ability to commercialize or profit from our software.

Moreover, we cannot assure you that our processes for controlling our use of open-source software in our solutions will be 
effective. If we have not complied with the terms of an applicable open-source software license, we may need to seek licenses 
from third parties to continue offering our solutions on terms that are not economically feasible, to re-engineer our platform to 
remove or replace the open-source software, to discontinue the sale of our platform if re-engineering could not be accomplished 
on a timely basis, to pay monetary damages, or to make available the source code for aspects of our proprietary technology, any 
of which could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

In addition to risks related to license requirements, use of open-source software can involve greater risks than those 
associated with use of third-party commercial software, as open-source licensors generally do not provide warranties, assurances 
of title, performance, non-infringement, or controls on the origin of the software. There is typically no support available for open-
source software, and we cannot ensure that the authors of such open-source software will not abandon further development and 
maintenance of such open-source software. Many of the risks associated with the use of open-source software, such as the lack of 
warranties or assurances of title or performance, cannot be eliminated, and could, if not properly addressed, negatively affect our 
business. We have established processes to help alleviate these risks, including a review process for screening requests from our 
development organizations for the use of open-source software, but we cannot be sure that all open-source software is identified 
or submitted for approval prior to use in our platform.

Indemnity provisions in various agreements potentially expose us to substantial liability for intellectual property 
infringement and other losses.

Our agreements with customers, partners, and other third parties may include indemnification or other provisions under 
which we agree to indemnify or otherwise be liable to them for losses suffered or incurred as a result of claims of intellectual 
property infringement, damages caused by us to property or persons, data and security breaches, and other liabilities relating to or 
arising from our software, services, acts, or omissions. The term of these contractual provisions often survives termination or 
expiration of the applicable agreement. Large indemnity payments or damage claims from contractual breach could harm our 
business, operating results, and financial condition. Although in some cases we contractually limit our liability with respect to 
such obligations, we do not always do so or our obligations are capped at a high amount, and in the future we may still incur 
substantial liability related to them. Any dispute with a customer with respect to such obligations could have adverse effects on 
our relationship with that customer and other current and prospective customers, reduce demand for our solutions, and harm our 
business, operating results and financial condition.

Risks Related to Financial Matters

Because we recognize revenue from our subscriptions over the subscription term, downturns or upturns in new sales and 
renewals may not be immediately reflected in our operating results and may be difficult to discern. In addition, pricing options 
we may offer could reduce visibility into our operating results and financial condition.
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A substantial majority of our revenue is earned under a subscription pricing model, and we generally recognize revenue 
ratably over the term of a subscription. As a result, a significant portion of the revenue we report in each quarter is derived from 
the recognition of revenue relating to subscriptions entered into during previous quarters. Consequently, a decline in new or 
renewed subscriptions in any single quarter may have a minimal impact on our revenue for that quarter. However, such a decline 
would negatively affect our revenue in future quarters. Accordingly, the effect of significant downturns in sales and market 
acceptance of our platform, and potential changes in our rate of renewals, may not be fully reflected in our operating results until 
future periods. Our subscription or pricing models may not accurately reflect the optimal pricing necessary to attract new 
customers and retain existing customers as the market matures. As the market for our platform matures, or as competitors 
introduce new products and services that compete with ours, we may be unable to attract new customers and retain existing 
customers at the same price or based on the same pricing models as we have used historically. Moreover, we may from time to 
time decide to make further changes to our pricing model due to a variety of reasons, including changes to the market for our 
products and services, pricing pressures, and the introduction of new products and services by competitors. Changes to any 
components of our pricing model may, among other things, result in customer dissatisfaction and could lead to a loss of 
customers and could negatively impact our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our operating results may fluctuate from period-to-period, which makes our future results difficult to predict.

Our operating results have fluctuated from period-to-period in the past and may fluctuate in the future, which makes it 
difficult to forecast our future results and subjects us to a number of uncertainties, including our ability to plan for and anticipate 
future growth and expenses. As a result, you should not rely upon our past operating results as indicators of future performance. 
We have encountered, and will continue to encounter, risks and uncertainties frequently experienced by growing companies in 
rapidly evolving markets, such as the risks and uncertainties described herein. Our operating results in any given period can be 
influenced by numerous factors, many of which are unpredictable or are outside of our control. As such, we believe that period-
to-period comparisons of our operating results may not be meaningful and should not be relied upon as an indication of future 
performance. The variability and unpredictability of our operating results could result in our failure to meet our expectations or 
those of analysts that cover us or investors with respect to revenue or other operating results for a particular period. If we fail to 
meet or exceed such expectations, then the trading price of our CDIs could fall substantially, and we could face claims from 
investors.

We may not have adequate insurance to cover losses and liabilities.

We maintain insurance that we consider appropriate for our operations. However, not all risks will be insured against, 
whether because the appropriate coverage is not available or because we consider the applicable premiums to be excessive in 
relation to the perceived risks and benefits that may accrue. Accordingly, we may not be fully insured against all losses and 
liabilities that may arise from our operations. The occurrence of a significant adverse event not fully or partially covered by 
insurance could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial performance and position.

Investors’ expectations of our performance relating to environmental, social, and governance factors may impose 
additional costs and expose us to new risks.

There is an increasing focus from certain investors, employees, and other stakeholders concerning corporate responsibility, 
specifically related to environmental, social, and governance factors. Some investors may use these factors to guide their 
investment strategies and, in some cases, may choose not to invest in us if they believe our policies relating to corporate 
responsibility are inadequate. Third-party providers of corporate responsibility ratings and reports on companies have increased 
to meet growing investor demand for measurement of corporate responsibility performance. The criteria by which companies’ 
corporate responsibility practices are assessed may change, which could result in greater expectations of us and cause us to 
undertake costly initiatives to satisfy such new criteria. If we elect not to or are unable to satisfy such new criteria, investors may 
conclude that our policies with respect to corporate responsibility are inadequate. We may face reputational damage in the event 
that our corporate responsibility procedures or standards do not meet the standards set by various constituencies.

Furthermore, if our competitors’ corporate responsibility performance is perceived to be greater than ours, potential or 
current investors may elect to invest with our competitors instead. In addition, in the event that we communicate certain 
initiatives and goals regarding environmental, social and governance matters, we could fail, or be perceived to fail, in our 
achievement of such initiatives or goals, or we could be criticized for the scope of such initiatives or goals. If we fail to satisfy the 
expectations of investors, employees, customers and other stakeholders, or, if our initiatives are not executed as planned, our 
reputation and business, operating results and financial condition could be adversely impacted.

Changes in our effective tax rate could impact our financial results. 

Our effective tax rate could also be adversely affected by changes in tax laws and regulations and interpretations of such 
laws and regulations, which in turn would negatively impact our earnings and cash and cash equivalent balances we currently 
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maintain. Additionally, our effective tax rate could also be adversely affected if there is a change in international operations, our 
tax structure and how our operations are managed and structured, and as a result, we could experience harm to our operating 
results and financial condition. For example, on August 16, 2022, the U.S. enacted the Inflation Reduction Act, which includes a 
corporate minimum tax and a 1% excise tax on net stock repurchases. We continue to evaluate the impacts of changes in tax laws 
and regulations on our business. 

Our ability to use our net operating losses to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations which 
could subject our business to higher tax liability.

Under U.S. federal income tax principles set forth in Sections 382 and 383 of the Code, if a corporation undergoes an 
“ownership change,” the corporation’s ability to use its pre-change net operating loss carryforwards and other pre-change tax 
attributes to offset its post-change income and taxes may be limited. In general, an “ownership change” occurs if there is a 
cumulative change in ownership of the relevant corporation by “5% shareholders” (as defined under U.S. income tax laws), that 
exceeds 50 percentage points over a rolling three-year period. Similar rules apply under state tax laws. Our ability to utilize a 
portion of our net operating loss carryforwards to offset future taxable income for U.S. federal income tax purposes may be 
subject to certain limitations under Section 382 of the Code. Such limitations on the ability to use net operating loss 
carryforwards and other tax assets could adversely impact our business, operating results and financial condition.

The applicability of sales, use, and other tax laws or regulations on our business is uncertain. Adverse tax laws or 
regulations could be enacted or existing laws could be applied to us or our customers, which could subject us to additional tax 
liability and related interest and penalties, increase the costs of our services and adversely impact our business.

The application of U.S. federal, state, local, and foreign tax laws to services provided electronically is evolving. New 
income, sales, use, value-added, or other tax laws, statutes, rules, regulations, or ordinances could be enacted at any time 
(possibly with retroactive effect), and could be applied solely or disproportionately to services provided over the Internet or could 
otherwise materially affect our financial position and operating results. Many countries in the EU, as well as a number of other 
countries and organizations such as the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, have recently proposed or 
recommended changes to existing tax laws or have enacted new laws that could impact our tax obligations.

After the U.S. Supreme Court decision in South Dakota v. Wayfair Inc. in 2018, many states have enacted laws that would 
require tax reporting, collection, or tax remittance on items sold online. States, localities, the U.S. federal government or other 
countries may seek to impose additional reporting, record-keeping and/or indirect tax collection obligations on our businesses. 
New legislation could require us to incur substantial costs, including costs associated with tax calculation, collection and 
remittance, and audit requirements, and could adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial condition.

We also have been and may in the future be subject to additional tax liabilities and related interest and penalties due to 
changes in indirect and non-income based taxes resulting from changes in U.S. federal, state, local or foreign tax laws, changes in 
taxing jurisdictions and administrative interpretations, decisions, policies and positions, result of tax examinations, settlements or 
judicial decisions, changes in accounting principles, changes to the business operations, as well as evaluation of new information 
that results in a change to a tax position taken in prior periods. It is possible that one or more states could seek to impose sales, 
use, or other tax collection obligations on us with regard to sales or orders on our business platform. These taxes may be 
applicable to past sales. A successful assertion by a taxing authority that we should be collecting additional sales, use or other 
taxes or remitting such taxes directly to states could result in substantial tax liabilities for past sales and additional administrative 
expenses, which could seriously harm our business, operating results, and financial condition. Although we have reserved for 
potential payments of possible past tax liabilities in our financial statements, if these liabilities exceed such reserves, our financial 
condition will be adversely impacted.

Risks Related to Legal and Regulatory Matters

We will incur significant costs and are subject to additional regulations and requirements as a public company in both 
Australia and the US, including compliance with the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the requirements of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the listing standards of ASX and any U.S. securities exchange on which our shares may become 
listed for trading. In addition, key members of our management team have limited experience managing a public company.

As a Washington State corporation, Limeade must ensure continued compliance with Washington laws, including the 
Washington Business Corporation Act. In addition, since we are listed on the ASX and registered as a foreign company in 
Australia, we also need to ensure continuous compliance with relevant Australian laws and regulations, including the ASX 
Listing Rules and, to the extent applicable, the Corporations Act. To the extent of any inconsistency between the Washington and 
Australian law and regulations, we may need to make changes to our business operations, structure or policies to resolve such 
inconsistency. If we are required to make such changes, this is likely to result in additional demands on management and extra 
costs.

20



As a U.S. public company, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that are not incurred by companies 
listed solely on the ASX, including costs associated with U.S. public company reporting requirements. Compliance with these 
requirements will place a strain on our management, systems and resources. The Exchange Act requires that we file annual, 
quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and financial condition within specified time periods and to prepare a 
proxy statement with respect to our annual meeting of shareholders. We also have incurred and will continue to incur costs 
associated with the ASX Listing Rules and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and rules implemented by the SEC. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
requires that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and effective internal control over financial reporting. The 
ASX requires, and any U.S. securities exchange in which our shares may be listed for trading will require, that we comply with 
various corporate governance requirements. The expenses generally incurred by U.S. public companies for reporting and 
corporate governance purposes have been increasing. We expect these rules and regulations to increase our legal and financial 
compliance costs and to make some activities more time-consuming and costly, although we are currently unable to estimate 
these costs with any degree of certainty. These laws and regulations also could make it more difficult or costly for us to obtain 
certain types of insurance, including director and officer liability insurance, and we may be forced to accept reduced policy limits 
and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar coverage. These laws and regulations could also 
make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors, on our board committees or 
as our executive officers. Advocacy efforts by shareholders and third parties may also prompt even more changes in governance 
and reporting requirements Furthermore, if we are unable to satisfy our obligations as a listed company, we could be subject to 
delisting of our CDIs on the ASX or any U.S. securities exchange on which our shares may be listed for trading, fines, sanctions 
and other regulatory action and potentially civil litigation.

Many members of our management team have limited experience managing a publicly traded company, interacting with 
public company investors and complying with the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public companies. Our management 
team may not successfully or efficiently manage our transition to being a public company in the US, being subject to significant 
regulatory oversight and reporting obligations under the federal securities laws and the continuous scrutiny of securities analysts 
and investors, as well as the interaction of such oversight and reporting obligations with those applicable under ASX listing and 
regulatory requirements. These new obligations and constituents may require us to employ additional specialized staff and seek 
advice from third party service provides. They will also require significant attention from our senior management and could 
divert their attention away from the day-to-day management of our business, which could adversely affect our business, operating 
results and financial condition.

We are subject to risks related to government contracts and related procurement regulations, which may adversely impact 
our business and operating results.

Our contracts with federal, state and local government entities are subject to various procurement regulations and other 
requirements relating to their formation, administration, performance, and termination, which could adversely impact our 
business and operating results. Government certification requirements applicable to our platform may change and, in doing so, 
restrict our ability to sell into the governmental sector until we have attained the full or revised certification. These laws and 
regulations provide public sector customers various rights, many of which are not typically found in commercial contracts. For 
instance, these regulations may require the certification and disclosure of cost and pricing data and other sensitive information in 
connection with contract negotiations under certain contract types. Any public disclosure of such information may adversely 
impact our competitive position and our operating results. We may be subject to audits and investigations relating to our 
government contracts, and any violations could result in various civil and criminal penalties and administrative sanctions, 
including termination of contracts, refunding or suspending of payments, forfeiture of profits, payment of fines, and suspension 
or debarment from future government business. In addition, such contracts may provide for delays, interruptions, or termination 
by the government at any time, without cause, which activities may adversely affect our business and operating results and 
impact other existing or prospective government contracts.

Adverse litigation judgments or settlements resulting from legal proceedings in which we may be involved could expose 
us to monetary damages or limit our ability to operate our business.

We may be subject to litigation and other claims and disputes in the course of doing business, including contractual disputes 
and indemnity claims, misleading and deceptive conduct claims, employment-related claims and intellectual property disputes 
and claims, including based on allegations of infringement, misappropriation or other violations of intellectual property rights. 
For example, claims may be made by competitors, employees or other entities who assert ownership of patents, copyrights, 
trademarks or trade secrets. Claims may relate to existing products or new products that we develop.

Given that we store, analyze, process, handle and transmit end-user and other data, there is also the risk that we may be 
subject to regulatory investigations and sanctions or fines by governmental agencies in the event of non-compliance with relevant 
statutory and regulatory requirements. Such litigation, claims, disputes or investigations, including the legal fees and other costs 
in defending claims and costs of settling claims or paying sanctions or fines, and any associated operational impacts, may be 

21



costly and damaging to our reputation and business relationships, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our 
financial performance, position and prospects and industry standing.

Failure to comply with anti-corruption and anti-money laundering laws, including the FCPA and similar laws associated 
with our activities outside of the US, could subject us to penalties and other adverse consequences.

We are subject to the FCPA and other applicable anti-corruption, anti-bribery and anti-money laundering laws. These laws, 
among other things, prohibit companies and their employees and third-party intermediaries from corruptly promising, 
authorizing, offering or providing, directly or indirectly, improper payments or anything of value to foreign government officials, 
political parties and private- sector recipients for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business, directing business to any person, 
or securing any advantage. In many foreign countries, including countries in which we may conduct business, it may be a local 
custom that businesses engage in practices that are prohibited by the FCPA or other applicable laws and regulations. We face 
significant risk if we, or any of our directors, officers, employees, agents or representatives, fail to comply with these laws, and 
governmental authorities in the U.S. and elsewhere could seek to impose substantial civil and/or criminal fines and penalties that 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation, operating results and financial condition.

We are required to comply with governmental export control and sanctions laws and regulations. Our failure to comply 
with these laws and regulations would have an adverse effect on our business, operating results, and financial condition.

Our platform is subject to governmental, including US and EU, export control laws and regulations, and as a U.S. company 
we are covered by the U.S. sanctions laws and regulations. U.S. export control and economic sanctions laws and regulations 
prohibit the shipment of certain products and services to U.S. embargoed or sanctioned countries, governments, and persons, and 
complying with export control and sanctions regulations for a particular sale may be time-consuming and may result in the delay 
or loss of sales opportunities. While we take precautions to prevent our platform from being exported in violation of these laws or 
engaging in any other activities that are subject to these regulations, we may fail to fully comply with these laws and regulations. 
If we are found to have failed to comply with U.S. export laws, U.S. Customs regulations and import regulations, U.S. economic 
sanctions, and other countries’ import and export laws, we could be subject to substantial civil and criminal penalties, including 
fines for the Company, incarceration for responsible employees and managers, and the possible loss of export or import 
privileges as well as incur reputational harm.

We incorporate encryption technology into certain of our products and certain encryption products may be exported outside 
of the US only by a license or a license exception. In addition, various countries regulate the import of certain encryption 
technology, including import permitting and licensing requirements, and have enacted laws that could limit our ability to 
distribute our products or could limit our customers’ ability to deploy our products in those countries. Although we take 
precautions to prevent our platform from being provided in violation of such laws, we cannot assure you that inadvertent 
violations of such laws have not occurred or will not occur in connection with the distribution of our platform despite the 
precautions we take. Governmental regulation of encryption technology and regulation of imports or exports, or our failure to 
obtain required import or export approval for our platform, could harm our international sales and adversely affect our operating 
results.

Further, if our partners fail to obtain required import, export, or re-export licenses or permits, we may also be harmed, 
become the subject of government investigations or penalties, and incur reputational harm. Changes in our platform or changes in 
export and import regulations may create delays in the introduction of our platform in international markets, prevent our 
customers with international operations from deploying our platform globally or, in some cases, prevent the export or import of 
our platform to certain countries, governments, or persons altogether. Any change in export or import laws or regulations, 
economic sanctions, or related legislation, shift in the enforcement or scope of existing laws and regulations, or change in the 
countries, governments, persons, or technologies targeted by such laws and regulations, could result in decreased use of our 
platform by, or in our decreased ability to export or sell our platform to, existing or potential customers with international 
operations. Any decreased use of our platform or limitation on our ability to export or sell our platform would likely adversely 
impact our business, operating results and financial condition.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock and CDIs

Our common stock may never be listed on a major U.S. stock exchange.

While we may seek the listing of our common stock on a U.S. securities exchange at some time in the future, we cannot 
ensure when, if ever, we will do so, that we will be able to satisfy such listing standards or that our common stock will be 
accepted for listing on any such exchange. Should we fail to satisfy the initial listing standards of such exchange, or our common 
stock is otherwise rejected for listing, the trading price of our common stock could suffer, the trading market for our common 
stock may be less liquid, and our common stock price may be subject to increased volatility.
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The market price of our CDIs and common stock may be volatile, which could cause the value of our common stock to 
decline.

The trading price of our CDIs on the ASX has been volatile, and even if a trading market for our common stock develops in 
the U.S., the market price of our common stock may be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations. In addition, the 
trading volume in our CDIs and common stock if a market develops may fluctuate and cause significant price variations to occur. 
Securities markets worldwide experience significant price and volume fluctuations as a result of a variety of factors, many of 
which are beyond our control but may nonetheless decrease the market price of our CDIs and common stock if a market 
develops, regardless of our actual operating performance, including:

a. public reaction to our press releases, announcements and filings with the SEC and ASX;

b. our operating and financial performance;

c. fluctuations in market prices and trading volumes of technology;

d. changes in market valuations of similar companies;

e. departures of key personnel;

f. commencement of or involvement in litigation;

g. changes in economic and political conditions, financial markets, and/or the technology industry;

h. interest rate fluctuations; 

i. changes in accounting standards, policies, guidance, interpretations, or principles;

j. actions by our shareholders;

k. the failure of securities analysts to cover our CDIs or common stock and/or changes in their recommendations and 
estimates of our financial performance;

l. future sales of our common stock, CDIs or other equity securities;

m. trading prices and trading volumes of our CDIs on the ASX; and

n. the other factors described in these “Risk Factors”.

The stock market has in the past experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations, and, following periods of such 
volatility in the overall market and the market price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been 
instituted against these companies. Such litigation, if instituted against us, could result in substantial costs and a diversion of our 
management’s attention and resources.

Additionally, our securities may in the future trade on more than one stock exchange and this may result in price variations 
between the markets and volatility in our stock price. Our CDIs are currently listed on the ASX. Although we do not currently 
plan to list our common stock on a U.S. securities exchange in the future, we may opt to do so if we determine the benefits 
outweigh the costs. Moreover, it is possible that our common stock could be traded in the over-the-counter markets in the U.S. 
Trading in our common stock and CDIs therefore may take place in different currencies (U.S. dollars on the U.S. securities 
exchange or over-the-counter market and Australian dollars (“AUD”) on the ASX), and at different times (resulting from 
different time zones, different trading days and different public holidays in the US and Australia). The trading prices of our CDIs 
and our common stock on two markets may differ as a result of these, or other, factors. Any decrease in the price of our CDIs or 
common stock on either market could cause a decrease in the trading prices of our CDIs or our common stock on the other 
market. In addition, investors may seek to profit by exploiting the difference, if any, between the price of our CDIs on the ASX 
and the price of shares of our common stock on a U.S. securities exchange. Such arbitrage activities could cause our stock price 
in the market with the higher value to decrease to the price set by the market with the lower value and could also lead to 
significant volatility in the price of our common stock or CDIs.

If securities and industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our 
business, our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our CDIs on the ASX is influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts 
publish about us or our business. If one or more of the analysts currently covering our securities ceases coverage, the trading 

23



price for our CDIs on the ASX would be negatively impacted. If any of the analysts who cover us issue an adverse or misleading 
opinion regarding us, our business model, our intellectual property or our CDI performance, or if our results of operations fail to 
meet the expectations of analysts, the price of our securities would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage 
of us or fail to publish reports on us regularly, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause the 
price of our securities or trading volume to decline.

U.S. investors may have difficulty in reselling their shares due to the lack of market or restrictions under state Blue Sky 
laws.

Our common stock is not currently traded on any U.S. securities exchange or over-the-counter market. No market in the 
U.S. may ever develop for our common stock, or if developed, may not be sustained in the future. Holders of our shares of 
common stock and persons who desire to purchase them in any U.S. trading market that might develop in the future should be 
aware that there might be significant state law restrictions upon the ability of investors to resell our shares. Accordingly, even if 
we are successful in having the shares available for trading on the over-the-counter markets, investors should consider any 
secondary market for our common shares to be a limited one. We have no current plans to take any action to make available to 
persons who wish to trade our common stock in the U.S. any exemptions under state Blue Sky laws. Accordingly, our common 
shares should be considered totally illiquid, which inhibits U.S. investors’ ability to resell their shares.

Our operating results and financial condition are subject to foreign currency fluctuation risks.

A portion of our revenue is denominated in non-U.S. dollars. Accordingly, our revenue will be affected by fluctuations in 
the rates by which the U.S. dollar is exchanged with non-U.S. dollars. Although steps may be undertaken to manage currency risk 
(for example via hedging strategies), adverse movements in the U.S. dollar against the non-U.S. dollar revenue may have an 
adverse impact on our business, operating results and financial condition. The risk may be increased where the foreign currency 
against the USD becomes more volatile, for example, due to economic, political factors, or significant events that may occur in 
the jurisdictions of those foreign currencies. We have not historically used foreign exchange contracts to help manage foreign 
exchange rate exposures.

If we are not able to maintain sufficient cash funds, we may cease trading on the ASX.

If we are not able to maintain sufficient funds to fund our activities or if ASX considers that our financial position is not 
adequate to warrant the continued quotation of our CDIs on ASX, ASX may suspend our CDIs from quotation. This would limit 
our liquidity and, in particular, could harm the ability of CDI holders to liquidate their position in our company. In addition, the 
value of our company could decline if we are not able to maintain our listing on ASX.

The different characteristics of the capital markets in Australia and the US may negatively affect the trading prices of 
our CDIs and may limit our ability to take certain actions typically performed by a U.S. company.

We are subject to ASX listing and associated Australian regulatory requirements. The listing and regulatory requirements of 
the ASX may limit our ability to take certain actions typically performed by a U.S. company. For example, the ASX Listing 
Rules limit the amount of equity securities that a listed company can issue without the approval of its shareholders over any 12 
month period to 15% of the outstanding share capital on issue at the start of the period, unless an exception applies. Failure to 
obtain this approval may make it more difficult for us to issue equity securities in the future at a time and at a price that we deem 
appropriate. ASX rules also require shareholder approval for the granting of options and restricted stock units to our directors, 
even when the underlying equity incentive plan has already been approved. This creates a risk that, if shareholders do not 
approve the grants, our directors will not receive their expected amount of equity compensation. This may make it more difficult 
for us to attract and retain directors, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial 
condition.

Further, ASX Listing Rules prohibit us from buying back CDIs on-market at a price which is 5% or more above the volume 
weighted average market price of our CDIs, calculated over the last five days on which sales of CDIs were recorded before the 
day on which the purchase under the buy-back was made, which, as a result, may make it more difficult to repurchase our CDIs 
on-market. In addition, should we wish to undertake an on-market buy-back, the ASX may impose further requirements on us as 
if we were subject to the Corporations Act 2001 of Australia, which may include the need to obtain shareholder approval to do 
so.

Lastly, the ASX Listing Rules prohibit the issuance of equity securities by a company without shareholder approval during 
the three-month period after it learns that a person is making, or proposes to make, a takeover for our securities, unless an 
exception applies. As a result, if a hostile takeover bid is made in respect of our CDIs or common stock, the ASX Listing Rules 
may limit our ability to issue equity securities, either as a counter-measure to the takeover bid or to fund operations.

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.
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We do not currently expect to pay any cash dividends on our common stock or CDIs for the foreseeable future. Instead, we 
intend to retain future earnings, if any, for the future operation and expansion of our business. Any determination to pay 
dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our results of operations (including 
our ability to generate cash flow in excess of expenses and our expected or actual net income), liquidity, cash requirements, 
financial condition, retained earnings and collateral and capital requirements, general business conditions, contractual restrictions, 
legal, tax and regulatory limitations, the effect of a dividend or dividends upon our financial strength ratings, and other factors 
that our board of directors deems relevant. See “Item 5. Market Price And Dividends On The Registrant’s Common Equity And 
Related Stockholder Matters.”

We qualify as an “emerging growth company”, as well as a “smaller reporting company”, and the reduced reporting 
requirements applicable to emerging growth companies and smaller reporting companies may make our securities less 
attractive to investors. 

We qualify as an “emerging growth company” within the meaning of the Securities Act, as modified by the Jumpstart Our 
Business Startups Act (“JOBS Act”), and we plan to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements 
for as long as we continue to be an emerging growth company. These provisions include, but are not limited to: being permitted 
to have only two years of audited financial statements and only two years of related management’s discussion and analysis of 
financial condition and results of operations disclosure; an exemption from compliance with the auditor attestation requirement in 
the assessment of our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act; not being 
required to comply with any requirement that may be adopted by the PCAOB regarding mandatory audit firm rotation or a 
supplement to the auditor’s report providing additional information about the audit and the financial statements; reduced 
disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation arrangements in our periodic reports, registration statements and proxy 
statements; and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and 
shareholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved by shareholders. In addition, the JOBS Act 
permits emerging growth companies to take advantage of an extended transition period to comply with new or revised accounting 
standards applicable to public companies. We intend to take advantage of the exemptions discussed above. As a result, the 
information we provide will be different than the information that is available with respect to other public companies. In this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K, we have not included all of the executive compensation-related information that would be required 
if we were not an emerging growth company. We cannot predict whether investors will find our common stock or CDIs less 
attractive if we rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock or CDIs less attractive as a result, there may 
be a less active trading market for our securities, and the market price of our securities may be more volatile.

We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of (i) the last day of our fiscal year following the fifth 
anniversary of the date of our first sale of our common stock pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities 
Act, (ii) the first fiscal year after our annual gross revenues exceed $1.07 billion, (iii) the date on which we have, during the 
immediately preceding three-year period, issued more than $1.00 billion in non-convertible debt securities or (iv) the end of any 
fiscal year in which the market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the end of the 
second quarter of that fiscal year.

In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act also provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of the 
exemption from complying with new or revised accounting standards provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act as long 
as the Combined Company remains an emerging growth company. An emerging growth company can therefore delay the 
adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. This may make 
comparison of our financial statements with another public company which is neither an emerging growth company nor an 
emerging growth company which has opted out of using the extended transition period difficult or impossible because of the 
potential differences in accounting standards used.

Additionally, we qualify as a “smaller reporting company” as defined in Item 10(f)(1) of Regulation S-K. Smaller reporting 
companies may take advantage of certain reduced disclosure obligations, including, among other things, providing only two years 
of audited financial statements. We will remain a smaller reporting company until the last day of the fiscal year in which (i) the 
market value of shares of our common equity held by non-affiliates exceeds $250 million as of the end of that year’s second 
fiscal quarter, or (ii) our annual revenues exceeded $100 million during such completed fiscal year and the market value of shares 
of our common equity held by non-affiliates equals or exceeds $700 million as of the end of that year’s second fiscal quarter. We 
plan to take advantage of such reduced disclosure obligations, and therefore comparison of our financial statements with other 
public companies may be more difficult or impossible.

Provisions of our charter documents and Washington law may inhibit a merger, acquisition or other change of control, 
which could limit the price investors might be willing to pay in the future for our CDIs.
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Certain provisions of our Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation (“Articles”), Amended and Restated Bylaws 
(“Bylaws”), or Washington law may discourage, delay or prevent a merger, acquisition or other change of control that 
shareholders may consider favorable, including provisions in our Articles or Bylaws that:

a. provide that the board of directors will be classified into three classes of directors with staggered three-year terms;

b. provide that the board of directors may establish the number of directors (within a range of 5 to 7) and fill any 
vacancies and newly created directorships;

c. prohibit cumulative voting for directors;

d. prohibit shareholder action by written consent unless unanimous;

e. provide that only the board of directors, chair of the board of directors, chief executive officer or holders of at least 
10% of all votes entitled to be cast on an issue may call a special meeting of shareholders;

f. establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the board of directors or proposing matters that 
may be acted upon by shareholders at annual shareholders’ meetings;

g. provide for a heightened quorum requirement applicable to the removal of directors at a special meeting of 
shareholders;

h. authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that the board of directors could use to implement a shareholder 
rights plan; 

i. provide that the board of directors is expressly authorized to make, alter or repeal the bylaws; and

j. provide that Washington State courts will be the exclusive forum for certain internal corporate proceedings, including 
claims asserting a breach of fiduciary duty or violation of the Washington State company law.

These provisions may also discourage or prevent transactions in which shareholders might otherwise receive a premium for 
their CDIs. These provisions may also limit the price that investors would be willing to pay in the future for the CDIs, thereby 
depressing the market price of the CDIs. Shareholders who wish to participate in these transactions may not have the opportunity 
to do so. 

In addition, pursuant to a provision in our Articles, we are subject to Chapter 23B.19 of the Revised Code of Washington 
(the “RCW”), which generally prohibits us from engaging in a “significant business transaction” with an “acquiring person” who 
acquires 10% or more of our voting shares for a period of five years following the date of the share acquisition, unless either the 
acquiring person attained such status with the prior approval of the board of directors (“the Board”) or the significant business 
transaction is approved by the Board and holders of at least two thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by the outstanding voting 
shares, except shares beneficially owned or under the voting control of the acquiring person. A “significant business transaction” 
may include a merger, share exchange, asset sale or certain other transactions described in Chapter 23B.19 of the RCW. 
Generally, an acquiring person is a person, or group of persons, who hold 10% or more of a company’s voting shares. The 
existence of this provision would be expected to have an anti-takeover effect with respect to transactions not approved in advance 
by the Board, including discouraging attempts that might result in a premium over the market price for the CDIs held by 
shareholders. 

We have not yet tested our internal controls in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the 
“Sarbanes-Oxley Act”). If we identify a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting that we are unable 
to remedy or otherwise fail to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, we may not be able to accurately or 
timely report our financial condition or results of operations, which may adversely affect our business and the price of our 
common stock and CDIs.

We have not previously been required to comply with the rules of the SEC implementing Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act and therefore are not required to make a formal assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial 
reporting for that purpose. However now, as a registrant, we are required to comply with the SEC’s rules implementing Section 
302 and 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which will require management to certify financial and other information in our 
quarterly and annual reports and provide an annual management report on the effectiveness of controls over financial reporting. 
Though we will be required to disclose changes made in our internal controls and procedures on a quarterly basis, we will not be 
required to make our first annual assessment of our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 until fiscal 
year 2023, the year following our first annual report required to be filed with the SEC. Pursuant to the Jumpstart our Business 
Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”), our independent registered public accounting firm will not be required to attest to the 
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effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting until the later of the year following our first annual report required to 
be filed with the SEC or the date we are no longer an emerging growth company, which may be up to five full fiscal years 
following this annual report on From 10-K. Accordingly, our internal controls over financial reporting does not currently meet all 
of the standards contemplated by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act that we will eventually be required to meet. We will 
establish formal procedures, policies, processes and practices related to financial reporting and to the identification of key 
financial reporting risks, assessment of their potential impact and linkage of those risks to specific areas and activities within our 
organization.

To comply with Section 404, we may need to incur substantial cost, expend significant management time on compliance-
related issues and hire additional accounting, financial, and internal audit staff with appropriate public company experience and 
technical accounting knowledge. Moreover, if we are not able to comply with the requirements of Section 404 in a timely 
manner, if we or our independent registered public accounting firm identify continued deficiencies in our disclosure controls and 
procedures, or deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting that are deemed to be material weaknesses, or if our 
independent registered public accounting firm is unable to express an opinion as to the effectiveness of our internal control over 
financial reporting once we are no longer an emerging growth company, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and 
completeness of our financial reports and the market price of our securities could be negatively affected. We could also become 
subject to investigations by the SEC, the ASX, and other regulatory authorities, which could require additional financial and 
management resources. In addition, if we fail to remedy any material weakness, our financial statements could be inaccurate and 
we could face restricted access to capital markets.

Note that in connection with the preparation of our consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 
31, 2021 (prior year), our auditors had identified a material weakness in our internal control over technical accounting. A material 
weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. However the 
same was concluded to be remediated as of December 31, 2022.

Our Articles provide, subject to exceptions, that the federal and state courts in Washington are the exclusive forum for 
certain shareholder litigation matters, which could limit our shareholders’ ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that 
they find more favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers, employees or shareholders.

Pursuant to our Articles, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the state or federal courts 
located in King County, Washington, will be the exclusive forum for any internal corporate proceeding (as defined by RCW 
23B.02.080). The forum selection clause in our Articles may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against us or our directors 
and officers and may limit our shareholders’ ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that they find more favorable for disputes 
with us or any of our directors, officers, other employees, or shareholders. The exclusive forum provision does not apply to any 
actions under US federal securities laws. 

Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in our Articles to be inapplicable or 
unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which 
could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters is located in Bellevue, WA, where we lease approximately 24,000 square feet of office space 
and the lease expires in October 2023. Our headquarters facility currently accommodates limited administrative activities. We are 
actively looking for alternative space and are also evaluating our real estate strategy as it relates to the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic and changing needs of a hybrid workforce. We continually assess our facilities requirements in light of the needs of a 
hybrid workforce and may make changes to our facilities as necessary. Upon acquisition of TINYpulse in July 2021, we also 
gained leased office space in Seattle, WA. Internationally, we lease office space in Canada, Germany, and Vietnam. These leases 
have various expiration dates through 2024.

We believe that our properties are suitable and adequate for our current needs. When our current office leases in Bellevue 
and Seattle expire in 2023, we plan to acquire a new space with a smaller footprint and believe that it would be readily available 
on commercially reasonable terms.

27



ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we may become involved in legal proceedings or be subject to claims arising out of its operations in the 
ordinary course of our business. We are not presently a party to any legal proceedings that in the opinion of our management, if 
determined adversely to us, would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results, or cash 
flows. Regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion 
of management resources, and other factors.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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Part II

ITEM 5.  MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER 
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Common Stock

Our common stock is listed on the ASX under the symbol LME. As of February 24, 2023, there were approximately 1,300 
registered holders of our common stock. We have never paid, and have no immediate plans to pay, cash dividends on our 
common stock.

Preferred Stock

We have no preferred stock issued or outstanding. 

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans 

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the section entitled “Equity Compensation Plan 
Information” included in Part III. Item 10 of this Form 10-K.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

None.

ITEM 6. [ RESERVED ]

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our 
consolidated financial statements and the related notes included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations contains forward-looking 
statements about us and our industry that involve substantial risks, uncertainties and assumptions. All statements other than 
statements of historical facts contained in this item, including statements regarding factors affecting our business, trends and 
uncertainties, are forward-looking statements. As a result of many factors including those factors set forth in the “Risk Factors” 
section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our actual results could differ materially from the results described in or implied by 
these forward-looking statements. You should carefully read the “Risk Factors” to gain an understanding of the important 
factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our forward-looking statements.

Overview

We are a provider of cloud-based employee experience software solutions (the “Limeade software solutions”) which include 
Limeade Well-Being and Limeade Listening. We were incorporated in February 2006 in the state of Washington. We are 
headquartered in Bellevue, Washington and have wholly owned subsidiaries with offices in Canada, Germany, and Vietnam and 
a branch registered in Australia. These entities provide business development, software development, and support service.

The Limeade software solutions are sold to organizations through a subscription-based revenue model. Our contracted 
annual recurring revenue (“CARR”), which represents the total value of contracted revenue at a point in time expressed on an 
annualized basis, assuming no terminations for convenience, was $59.5 million and $56.8 million as of December 31, 2022 and 
2021, respectively. Our primary target market for the Limeade Well-Being solution is companies with 5,000 or more employees. 
For Limeade Listening, the target market is companies with less than 500 employees. We also serve companies with fewer than 
500 employees, and non-employer entities including health plans and their member populations. 
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The following tables show the amount of the revenue derived from different customer categories:

Number of Customers Revenue from Customers

Customers with:
December 
31, 2022

December 
31, 2021

December 
31, 2022

December 
31, 2021

Greater than 5,000 employees     ............................  94  120  83 %  90 %
500 to 4,999 employees    ......................................  96  32  7 %  9 %
Less than 500 employees      ....................................  870  680  10 %  1 %
Total    ....................................................................  1,060  832  100 %  100 %

We recorded revenue of $56.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to revenue of $55.2 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2021. Our net losses were $13.2 million and $10.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 
2021, respectively and the accumulated deficit was $62.6 million and $49.4 million, respectively.

Initial Public Offering

On December 20, 2019, we completed our initial public offering (“IPO”) on the Australian Securities Exchange (“ASX”), 
pursuant to which we issued and sold an aggregate of 27,060,208 CHESS Depository Interests (“CDIs”) each representing one 
share of common stock at AUD$1.85 per CDI, resulting in net proceeds of $30.2 million after deducting underwriting discounts, 
commissions and offering costs of $4.1 million.

We are currently registered with the ASX and our CDIs are traded on the ASX. In August 2022, we filed our Form 10 with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) which became effective in October 2022 and as such became a U.S. public 
reporting company. However, our stock is not traded on any United States (“US”) stock exchange.

Business Combination

On July 28, 2021, we acquired TINYpulse, a Seattle-based leader in employee listening (engagement) software. We 
continue to offer the TINYpulse products, now branded as the Limeade Listening solution, to existing customers and are focused 
on selling Limeade Listening to new customers and markets and developing the products further. The total consideration 
transferred related to this transaction was $9.1 million of cash consideration and an additional estimated earnout consideration of 
$0.9 million as of December 31, 2021. The earnout consideration had defined evaluation periods at six, twelve, and eighteen 
months after the closing date of the acquisition and was to be paid to the pre-merger company if the certain specified CARR 
targets were met. The estimated earnout consideration was reduced to zero as of September 30, 2022 based on CARR projections 
and as of December 31, 2022 and the final evaluation date, it was determined that the CARR targets were not met and hence the 
write off was appropriate. The financial results of the acquired business are included in our consolidated results from the date of 
acquisition. Refer to Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements for additional information. 

Impact of COVID-19

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak to be a pandemic. As a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic, we modified certain aspects of our business, including restricting employee travel, requiring employees to 
work from home, transitioning our employee onboarding and training processes to remote or online programs, and canceling 
certain events and meetings, among other modifications. In September 2022, we began re-opening certain of our offices. We have 
also permitted essential business travel and invited employees to return to work on a voluntary basis. We will continue to actively 
monitor and evaluate the situation taking into account the best interests of our employees, customers, partners, suppliers and 
stockholders. The effects of these operational modifications are unknown and may not be known until future reporting periods. 
While we have not experienced significant disruptions to our operations or financial performance from the COVID-19 pandemic 
to date, we are unable to accurately predict the full impact that COVID-19 will have due to numerous uncertainties, including the 
duration of the outbreak, the current or a future resurgence of the outbreak in connection with new variants and mutations, the 
widespread distribution and long-term efficacy of vaccines, the efficacy of vaccines against new variants or mutations, actions 
that may be taken by governmental authorities, the impact on our business including our sales cycle, sales execution and 
marketing efforts, and the impact to the business of our customers, vendors and partners. For further discussion of the challenges 
and risks we confront related to the COVID-19 pandemic, please refer to Part I, Item 1A Risk Factors of this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K.
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Contracted Annual Recurring Revenue (CARR)

We use CARR to better understand and assess the performance of our business as a leading indicator of future revenue 
performance. CARR also provides a normalized view of customer retention, renewal and expansion, as well as growth from new 
customers. CARR should be viewed independently of revenue and deferred revenue, and is not intended to be combined with or 
to replace either of those items. CARR is an unaudited disclosure.

Key Factors Affecting Our Performance

We aim to deliver innovative and valuable employee experience software solutions via the Limeade platform, building on its 
long track record of strength in employee well-being and engagement. We aim to increase awareness of the benefits of our 
employee experience platform and solutions. Limeade invests in the essential functions that are expected to help support growth, 
including roles related to product, research and development, leadership (including general and administrative), sales, marketing, 
customer success and customer operations. To execute on our initiatives, we have developed a strategy that is primarily based 
around but not limited to, the following elements:

• Acquire new Limeade Well-Being customers with 5,000 or more employees, primarily in North America;

• Acquire new Limeade Listening customers with 500-5,000 employees;

• Expand populations and upsell solutions and services to all existing customers for all solutions; 

• Continue to expand platform and solutions offerings with internal development; and

• Reduce operating expenses through a headcount reduction and operational improvements.

Components of Results of Operations

Revenue

Subscription Revenue

Software-as-a-service (“SaaS”) subscriptions provide customers with a right to access software we host on the web, and 
services that include when-and-if-available updates and technical support; customers do not have a contractual right to take 
possession of the software. We typically enter into agreements with a term of three years with our customers but the substantial 
majority of these contracts allow the customer to terminate at the anniversaries without penalty. Effectively, our subscription 
arrangements are considered one-year contracts under revenue recognition standard. Subscription fees may be invoiced annually, 
quarterly, or monthly depending on the terms of the contract. 

The nature of the SaaS subscription promise to the customer is to provide continuous access to our application platform. As 
such, our SaaS offerings are generally viewed as a stand-ready performance obligation comprised of a series of distinct daily 
services. Customers are granted continuous access to the platform over the contractual period and accordingly revenue related to 
subscription fees is recognized on a straight-line basis over the subscription term, beginning when the customer first has access to 
the software.

We also sell third-party SaaS subscriptions such as health coaching and content subscription services, which are contracted 
for and billed to the customer by us. In these arrangements, we are considered the agent, and therefore, revenue is recognized net 
of costs charged by our third-party providers on a ratable basis over the subscription period.

Other Revenue

Other revenue includes services pertaining to (i) onsite client program managers which are billed based on the number of 
managers and the associated fees as stated in the contract and (ii) add-on services like biometric data collection and onsite 
screenings which are usage-based and billed based on the number of participants. Billings or payments received in advance of 
other revenue service performance are deferred and are recognized as the services are performed, or ratably over the contract 
period, depending on the service.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

Cost of revenue includes personnel and related costs including salaries, benefits, related payroll tax and allocated facilities 
costs for employees in the customer operations and customer success teams who implement and configure Limeade software for 
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new customers and provide ongoing account management services, and the costs of infrastructure hosting the platform. 
Amortization from our acquired technology intangible asset and capitalized software development costs is expensed to cost of 
revenue.

Gross profit is revenue less cost of revenue, and gross margin is gross profit expressed as a percentage of revenue. Our gross 
margin may fluctuate from period to period based on staffing needs to meet customer demand or to support improvements to our 
products. We expect our gross margin to improve over time as we have made significant investments into the security and 
reliability of our products, and spending in this area is projected to decline, improving our gross margin.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Sales and marketing expenses consist of personnel and related costs including salaries, commissions, benefits, payroll tax 
and allocated facilities costs associated with content generation, lead generation, sales, other marketing activities, and 
amortization from our customer relationship intangible assets. We expect our sales and marketing expenses to decrease in future 
periods as headcount will decrease across our sales and marketing teams.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses consist of personnel and related costs including salaries, benefits, payroll tax, allocated 
facilities costs, and third-party costs associated with product development, business intelligence and analytics, user experience, 
software research, design and development. We expect our research and development expenses to decrease in absolute dollars in 
future periods as we are completing significant investments to the security and reliability of our products, which has taken place 
over past periods.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist of personnel and related costs including salaries, benefits, payroll tax and 
allocated facilities costs for finance, legal, human resources and administration employees. These expenses also include 
professional fees for legal, accounting, tax and other services, and administration and board costs. We expect our general and 
administrative expenses to decrease in future periods as the costs to register with the SEC were incurred in 2022. Additionally, 
we do not expect increases to headcount across these departments.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net consists primarily of foreign exchange gains and losses. For the year ended December 31, 2022, 
other income includes income from the sublease of one of our leases and the TINYpulse acquisition liability write off.

Income Tax Expense

Our provision for income taxes consists of U.S. federal and state income taxes and income taxes in certain foreign 
jurisdictions in which we conduct business. Our income tax rate varies from the federal statutory rate due to valuation allowance 
on U.S. deferred tax assets and foreign tax rates on non-U.S. earnings.
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Results of Operations

The following table summarizes results of operations for the periods indicated:
Year Ended December 31,

(dollars in thousands) 2022 2021

Revenue:
Subscription services  .......................................................... $ 54,029 $ 52,172 
Other      ..................................................................................  1,988  3,024 

Total revenues    .............................................................  56,017  55,196 
Cost of revenue    .......................................................................  17,210  15,032 

Gross profit    .................................................................  38,807  40,164 
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing      ................................................................  16,903  17,713 
Research and development     .....................................................  22,062  20,400 
General and administrative     .....................................................  14,031  11,847 

Total operating expenses       ...........................................  52,996  49,960 
Operating loss   .......................................................................  (14,189)  (9,796) 
Other income (expense), net     ...................................................  1,002  (144) 
Loss before income taxes   ........................................................  (13,187)  (9,940) 
Income tax expense  .................................................................  (38)  (25) 
Net loss      .................................................................................. $ (13,225) $ (9,965) 

The following table sets forth our results of operations for the periods presented as a percentage of our total revenue:
Year Ended December 31,

(dollars in thousands) 2022 2021

Revenue:
Subscription services  ..........................................................  96 %  95 %
Other      ..................................................................................  4 %  5 %

Total revenues    .............................................................  100 %  100 %
Cost of revenue    .......................................................................  31 %  27 %

Gross profit    .................................................................  69 %  73 %
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing      ................................................................  30 %  32 %
Research and development     .....................................................  39 %  37 %
General and administrative     .....................................................  25 %  21 %

Total operating expenses       ...........................................  95 %  91 %
Operating loss   .......................................................................  (25) %  (18) %
Other income (expense), net     ...................................................  2 %  — %
Loss before income taxes   ........................................................  (24) %  (18) %
Income tax expense  .................................................................  — %  — %
Net loss      ..................................................................................  (24) %  (18) %
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Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

Revenue
Year Ended Dec 31, Change

(dollars in thousands) 2022 2021 Amount %

Revenue:
Subscription services    ............................................. $ 54,029 $ 52,172 $ 1,857  4 %
Other    ...................................................................... $ 1,988 $ 3,024  (1,036)  (34) %

Total revenue    .................................................. $ 56,017 $ 55,196 $ 821  1 %

Subscription services revenue increased $1.9 million, or 4%. This change was primarily due to an increase of $4.4 million in 
survey revenue from the business combination with TINYpulse, which we acquired in July 2021 offset by a $2.5 million 
reduction of revenue related to performance guarantees for services sold.

Other revenue decreased by $1.0 million, or 34%, primarily due to a decrease in biometric screening services sold.

Cost of Revenue, Gross Profit and Gross Margin 
Year Ended Dec 31, Change

(dollars in thousands) 2022 2021 Amount %

Cost of revenue       .......................................................... $ 17,210 $ 14,982 $ 2,228  15 %
Gross profit   ................................................................. $ 38,807 $ 40,164  (1,357)  (3) %
Gross margin    .............................................................  69 %  73 %

Cost of revenue increased by $2.2 million, or 15%. This was primarily due to an increase of $1.2 million in headcount costs, 
an increase of $0.7 million in amortization of capitalized software development costs, and an increase of $0.3 million in our third-
party cloud infrastructure costs. Costs associated with our customer operations and customer success teams are primarily 
personnel and related costs. 

Gross margin decreased from 73% for the year ended December 31, 2021, to 69% for the year ended December 31, 2022. 
The decrease in gross margin was primarily due to increased resources needed to implement accessibility and security 
enhancements to our product and to execute customer upgrades to new platform technology.

Sales and Marketing Expenses
Year Ended December 31, Change

(dollars in thousands) 2022 2021 Amount %

Sales and marketing       ................................................... $ 16,903 $ 17,713 $ (810)  (5) %

Sales and marketing expenses decreased by $0.8 million, or 5%, primarily due to a $0.8 million decrease of marketing costs 
caused by reduced marketing activities and other travel and consultant costs.

Research and Development Expenses 
Year Ended December 31, Change

(dollars in thousands) 2022 2021 Amount %

Research and development     ......................................... $ 22,062 $ 20,400 $ 1,662  8 %

Research and development expenses increased by $1.7 million, or 8%, primarily due to an increase of $4.6 million in 
personnel and related costs resulting from increased headcount, an increase of $0.6 million in software costs partially offset by a 
decrease of $3.5 million in capitalized software development costs.
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General and Administrative Expenses
Year Ended December 31, Change

(dollars in thousands) 2022 2021 Amount %

General and administrative   ......................................... $ 14,031 $ 11,847 $ 2,184  18 %

General and administrative expenses increased by $2.2 million, or 18%, primarily due to an increase in professional services 
related to the registration of our common stock with the SEC in 2022. An additional driver was costs related with personnel. 

Other Income (Expense), Net
Year Ended December 31, Change

(dollars in thousands) 2022 2021 Amount %

Other income (expense), net  ....................................... $ 1,002  (144) $ (1,146)  796 %

There was a $1.1 million change in other income (expense) primarily due the TINYpulse acquisition liability write off in the 
third quarter of 2022.

Liquidity

Our principal source of liquidity as of December 31, 2022 is cash and cash equivalents of $2.6 million, which consists of 
bank deposits and a revolving credit facility of $10.0 million (see below). We have funded our operations primarily from revenue 
from the sale of our products, proceeds from the issuance of our equity securities and borrowings under our debt arrangements.

We have a loan and security agreement with Comerica Bank which is subject to borrowing base limitations. 

In August 2022, we entered into an amendment to the Credit Facility which modified the terms of the loan and extended the 
maturity date to December 31, 2023, at which time any amounts outstanding become due and payable. 

On January 19, 2023 and February 23, 2023, the Company executed subsequent amendments which reduced the borrowing 
capacity from $15.0 million to $10.0 million and added an adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization 
(“Adjusted EBITDA”) requirement wherein the Company is required to achieve and maintain certain minimum adjusted 
EBITDA at the various measurement periods outlined in the amendment. The maturity date of the Credit Facility has been 
extended to March 31, 2024. The amendments temporarily limit the borrowing capacity to $6.0 million until certain 
administrative tasks have been performed. Thereafter the borrowing capacity increases to $10.0 million. 

The Credit Facility includes affirmative and negative covenants, which we were in compliance with as of December 31, 
2022. Interest on outstanding borrowings is equal to the Prime rate and Prime Referenced Rate shall not be less than the greater 
of (i) the sum of Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR Rate) plus 2.50% per annum, or (ii) two and one-half percent (2.50%) 
per annum. If, at any time, Bank determines that it is unable to determine or ascertain the SOFR Rate for any day, the Prime 
Referenced Rate for each such day shall be the Prime Rate in effect at such time, but not less than two and one-half percent 
(2.50%) per annum.

We have a balance of $2.5 million outstanding under the Credit Facility as of December 31, 2022, and the net loan 
availability as of that date was $3.4 million. In January 2023, we borrowed an additional $2.5 million on the Credit Facility 
bringing the total borrowed balance to $5.0 million. The obligations under the Credit Facility are collateralized by our 
receivables, we expect to be able to consistently access between $5.0 million and $8.0 million.

As of December 31, 2022, as reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements, the Company had a cash 
balance of $2.6 million, a net loss of $13.2 million, a working capital deficit of $18.8 million, net cash used in operating activities 
of $6.4 million, and an accumulated deficit of $62.6 million. As such, we signed the amendment in February 2023, extending the 
maturity date, implemented a reduction-in-force affecting approximately 15% of our employees in January 2023, which we 
expect will result in additional cost savings, and have further plans to manage other headcount-related costs. Management 
believes that its current cash position, the available line of credit supplemented by its cost savings from the reduction in force, 
when combined with prudent expense management, will be sufficient to meet our working capital and capital expenditure needs 
for the foreseeable future.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments

Our principal contractual obligations and commitments consist of operating leases for office space and debt. For more 
information regarding our obligations for leases and debt, refer to Notes 11 and 13, respectively, in Part II, Item 8. Financial 
Statements.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods presented:

Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2022 2021

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities    ... $ (6,436) $ (5,208) 
Net cash used in investing activities    ..........................  (7,615)  (12,927) 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities    ...  2,520  601 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2022, was $6.4 million, which primarily consisted of a net 
loss of $13.2 million, adjusted for non-cash items of $6.3 million and a net change in net operating assets and liabilities of $0.6 
million. The non-cash charges primarily consisted of $3.0 million in depreciation and amortization, $2.4 million in stock-based 
compensation expense, $1.4 million in non-cash operating lease expense, $0.9 million change in fair value of earnout liability and 
$0.3 million in amortization of capitalized sales commissions. The primary drivers of changes in operating assets and liabilities 
related to an increase of $2.1 million in trade receivables, $1.4 million in capitalized sales commissions, $2.4 million in accrued 
expenses and other current liabilities and $2.8 million in deferred revenue. This was partially offset by a decrease of $1.5 million 
in operating lease liabilities. 

Cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2021, was $5.2 million, which primarily consisted of a net 
loss of $10.0 million, adjusted for non-cash items of $5.0 million and a net change in net operating assets and liabilities of $0.3 
million. The non-cash items primarily consisted of $2.1 million in depreciation and amortization, $1.9 million in stock-based 
compensation expense and $1.0 million of non-cash operating lease expense. The primary drivers of changes in operating assets 
and liabilities related to a decrease of $2.1 million in trade payables, an increase of $1.5 million in prepaid expenses and other 
current assets, a decrease of $0.8 million in operating lease liabilities and an increase of $0.7 million in capitalized sales 
commission. This was partially offset by an increase of $2.4 million in deferred revenue, an increase of $1.6 million in accrued 
expenses and other current liabilities and a decrease of $0.7 million in accounts receivable.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2022, was $7.6 million, which consisted of $7.3 million in 
capitalized software development costs and $0.3 million for purchases of property and equipment. 

Cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2021, was $12.9 million, which consisted of $9.1 million 
in cash paid for the TINYpulse acquisition, $3.7 million in capitalized software development costs and $0.2 million for purchases 
of property and equipment. 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2022, was $2.5 million which includes gross 
proceeds of $2.5 million from borrowings under the Credit Facility described above, a debt repayment of $0.1 million and $0.1 
million from exercise of stock options.

Cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2021, consisted of $0.6 million in proceeds from 
exercise of stock options. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the US. 
The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires us to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, as well as revenue and expenses. We base our assumptions, judgements and estimates 
on historical experience and various other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could 
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differ materially from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. We regularly evaluate our estimates, 
assumptions and judgements.

Our significant policies are described in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements elsewhere in this Registration 
Statement. We believe that the following estimates are critical to understanding our historical and future performance, as these 
relate to the more significant areas involving management’s judgments and estimates and therefore involve a greater degree of 
estimation uncertainty.

Revenue Recognition

We derive revenue from two primary sources: subscription revenues and other revenues. Subscription revenues consists of 
fees from customers for access to the Limeade software platform and fees from customers for value-added services provided by 
third parties. Other revenues consist of fees from customers for add-on services and onsite client program managers. 

We use judgment in determining the standalone selling price (“SSP”) for each distinct performance obligation. We typically 
have more than one SSP for each product and service based on customer stratification, which is based on the size of the customer, 
their geographic region and market segment. For cloud-based subscriptions, SSP is generally observable using standalone sales 
and/or renewals. We evaluate contracts with customers that include options to purchase additional goods or services to determine 
whether the options give rise to a material right, which is a separate performance obligation. If we determine the options give rise 
to a material right, the revenue allocated to such right is not recognized until the option is exercised or the option expires.

Our contracts with customers generally include performance or service level guarantees, which obligate us to certain service 
performance deliverables such as minimum engagement rates, minimum scores on customer satisfaction surveys and web-site 
uptime requirements. These guarantees are treated as variable consideration, which reduces the total transaction price for 
individual contracts. We monitor compliance with performance guarantees throughout the duration of each contract and have a 
history of meeting contract performance guarantees. Our estimated achievement of performance guarantees is subject to 
estimation uncertainty. If our actual achievement differs from our estimate, an adjustment to revenue will be recorded in a 
subsequent period, which would impact our results of operations.

Business Combinations

Under the acquisition method, we allocate the fair value of the purchase price for each acquisition to the assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values. The excess of the fair value of the purchase price over the fair values of 
these identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The determination of the fair value of identifiable intangible assets 
acquired, including customer relationships, involves certain judgments and estimates. As part of the estimation process, third-
party valuation specialists can be engaged to assist in the valuation of certain of these assets and liabilities, including the 
identifiable intangible assets. In determining the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, these judgments can 
include, but are not limited to, the valuation methodology (i.e. income approach, market approach and/or cost approach), future 
expected cash flows, and discount rate. We typically use an income approach to value the identifiable intangible assets. Our 
estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and 
unpredictable and, as a result, actual results may differ materially from estimates. The estimated fair values assigned to assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed in a purchase price allocation can have a significant effect on future results of operations. For 
example, a higher fair value assigned to intangible assets results in higher amortization expense, which results in lower net 
income.

Our estimates associated with the accounting for business combinations may change as additional information becomes 
available regarding the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Any change in facts and circumstances that existed as of the 
acquisition date and impacts our preliminary estimates is recorded to goodwill if identified within the measurement period. 
Subsequent to the measurement period or our final determination of fair value of assets and liabilities whichever is earlier the 
adjustments will affect our earnings.

Deferred Commissions

We capitalize sales commissions that are considered to be incremental to the acquisition of customer contracts, which are 
then amortized on a straight-line basis over an estimated period of benefit. To determine the period of benefit of our deferred 
commissions, we evaluate the type of costs incurred, the nature of the related benefit, and the specific facts and circumstances of 
our arrangements. We determine the period of benefit for commissions paid for the acquisition of the initial subscription contract 
by taking into consideration our historical initial and renewal contractual terms and estimated renewal rates. We determine the 
period of benefit for commissions on renewal subscription contracts by considering the average contractual term for renewal 
contracts. We evaluate these assumptions at least annually and periodically review whether events or changes in circumstances 
have occurred that could impact the period of benefit. Any future changes in circumstances around our customer life and average 
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contractual terms of renewal contracts may materially change the periods of benefit and therefore the amortization amounts 
recognized in our consolidated statements of operations.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For a description of our recently adopted accounting pronouncements and recently issued accounting standards not yet 
adopted, refer to Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements appearing under Part II, Item 8.

 ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risk in the ordinary course of our business. Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact 
our financial position due to adverse changes in financial market prices and rates. Our market risk exposure is primarily a result 
of fluctuations in interest rates.

As of December 31, 2022, we had $2.5 million in variable rate debt outstanding. All the borrowings mature on December 
31, 2023. The borrowings accrue interest at Prime Referenced Rate which is the greater of (i) the sum of Secured Overnight 
Financing Rate (SOFR Rate) plus 2.50% per annum, or (ii) two and one-half percent (2.50%) per annum. If the SOFR Rate for 
any day cannot be determined, the Prime Referenced Rate for each such day shall be the Prime Rate in effect at such time, but not 
less than two and one-half percent (2.50%) per annum (7.5% as of December 31, 2022) A hypothetical increase or decrease of 
100 basis points in the aforementioned prime rate would not have a material impact on our financial position or results of 
operations.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

There was no material foreign currency risk for the year ended December 31, 2022.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of Limeade, Inc. 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of Limeade, Inc. 

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Limeade, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of 
December 31, 2022 and 2021, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders' equity, and 
cash flows, for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the 
"financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the 
period ended December 31, 2022, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in 
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to 
error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over 
financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, 
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Seattle, Washington
February 28, 2023

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2019.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
1015 Second Avenue
Suite 500
Seattle, WA 98104

Tel: +1 206 716 7000
www.deloitte.com
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December 31,
2022 2021

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents     ....................................................................................... $ 2,559 $ 13,939 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $268 and $93, 

respectively      ..........................................................................................................  10,862  8,709 
Capitalized sales commissions      ................................................................................  716  271 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  ...............................................................  6,105  5,433 

Total current assets    .............................................................................................  20,242  28,352 
Property and equipment, net    ......................................................................................  413  441 
Capitalized software development costs, net    .............................................................  14,634  8,895 
Capitalized sales commissions, net of current portion   ..............................................  1,023  399 
Operating lease right-of-use assets  ............................................................................  1,236  2,638 
Goodwill    ....................................................................................................................  8,562  8,562 
Intangible assets, net   ..................................................................................................  2,830  3,926 
Other non-current assets     ............................................................................................  411  327 
Total assets      ................................................................................................................ $ 49,351 $ 53,540 

Liabilities and stockholders' equity
Current liabilities
Trade payables......................................................................................................... $ 2,719 $ 2,058 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   ........................................................  13,056  10,703 
Operating lease liabilities    ........................................................................................  1,328  1,531 
Deferred revenue   .....................................................................................................  16,344  13,528 
Customer deposits   ...................................................................................................  3,152  2,578 
Revolving credit facility   .........................................................................................  2,450  — 

Acquisition earnout liability     ....................................................................................  —  110 
Total current liabilities   .......................................................................................  39,049  30,508 

Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion    ......................................................  38  1,363 
Acquisition earnout liability, net of current portion    ..................................................  —  790 
Deferred tax liability   ..................................................................................................  13  10 
Total liabilities     ...........................................................................................................  39,100  32,671 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock (no par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized, zero shares issued 

and outstanding as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively)   .....................  —  — 
Common stock (no par value, 550,000,000 shares authorized, 257,245,284 and 

253,621,067 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively)    .........................................................................................................  —  — 

Additional paid-in capital     ........................................................................................  72,735  70,241 
Accumulated other comprehensive income   ............................................................  148  35 
Accumulated deficit     ................................................................................................  (62,632)  (49,407) 

Total stockholders' equity    ..........................................................................................  10,251  20,869 
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity     ................................................................... $ 49,351 $ 53,540 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Limeade, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except shares and per share data)
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Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021

Revenue:
Subscription services  ..................................................................................... $ 54,029 $ 52,172 
Other      .............................................................................................................  1,988  3,024 

Total revenue    .........................................................................................  56,017  55,196 
Cost of revenue      .............................................................................................  17,210  15,032 
Gross profit     .....................................................................................................  38,807  40,164 
Operating expenses: 

Sales and marketing     ......................................................................................  16,903  17,713 
Research and development   ............................................................................  22,062  20,400 
General and administrative      ...........................................................................  14,031  11,847 

Total operating expenses      .........................................................................  52,996  49,960 
Loss from operations   .......................................................................................  (14,189)  (9,796) 
Other income (expense), net     ............................................................................  1,002  (144) 
Loss before income taxes  ................................................................................  (13,187)  (9,940) 
Income tax benefit (expense) ...........................................................................  (38)  (25) 
Net loss    ............................................................................................................ $ (13,225) $ (9,965) 
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted    .... $ (0.05) $ (0.04) 
Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding, basic and diluted     ...  255,366,730  250,356,000 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Limeade, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except shares and per share data)

42



Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021

Net loss $ (13,225) $ (9,965) 
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustments   .........................................................  113  248 
Total comprehensive loss .............................................................................. $ (13,112) $ (9,717) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Limeade, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

(in thousands)
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Additional Paid-
In Capital

Accumulated 
Deficit

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income (Loss)

Total 
Stockholders' 

Equity
Common Stock

Shares Amount

BALANCE, December 31, 2020    ...................................  247,420,156 $ — $ 67,586 $ (39,442) $ (213) $ 27,931 
Exercise of stock options and release of restricted stock 
units   ..................................................................................  6,200,911  —  768  —  —  768 
Stock-based compensation    ...............................................  —  —  1,887  —  —  1,887 
Gain/(loss) on translation adjustments   .............................  —  —  —  —  248  248 
Net loss    .............................................................................  —  —  —  (9,965)  —  (9,965) 
BALANCE, December 31, 2021   ....................................  253,621,067  —  70,241  (49,407)  35  20,869 
Exercise of stock options and release of restricted stock 
units   ..................................................................................  3,624,217  —  70  —  —  70 
Stock-based compensation    ...............................................  —  —  2,424  —  —  2,424 
Gain/(loss) on translation adjustments   .............................  —  —  —  —  113  113 
Net loss    .............................................................................  —  —  —  (13,225)  —  (13,225) 
BALANCE, December 31, 2022   ....................................  257,245,284 $ — $ 72,735 $ (62,632) $ 148 $ 10,251 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Limeade, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(in thousands, except shares)
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Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss    .................................................................................................................. $ (13,225) $ (9,965) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities

Depreciation and amortization     ...........................................................................  2,996  2,077 
Stock-based compensation    .................................................................................  2,424  1,887 
Non-cash operating lease expense     .....................................................................  1,403  1,013 
Amortization of capitalized sales commissions     .................................................  362  47 
Change in fair value of acquisition earnout liability   ..........................................  (900)  — 
Foreign currency transactions     ............................................................................  (24)  35 
Other  ...................................................................................................................  —  (19) 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable    ........................................................................................  (2,155)  713 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    ......................................................  (671)  (1,537) 
Capitalized sales commission    .........................................................................  (1,430)  (717) 
Other non-current assets  .................................................................................  (85)  64 
Trade payables    ................................................................................................  661  (2,114) 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities      ...............................................  2,356  1,645 
Deferred revenue      ............................................................................................  2,816  2,389 
Customer deposits       ..........................................................................................  565  79 
Operating lease liabilities    ...............................................................................  (1,529)  (805) 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities    ....................................  (6,436)  (5,208) 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Capitalized software development costs     ............................................................  (7,330)  (3,655) 
Purchases of property and equipment     ................................................................  (285)  (181) 
Cash paid for acquisition, net     .............................................................................  —  (9,091) 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities   ........................................  (7,615)  (12,927) 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Borrowings (net of issuance costs) under revolving credit facility   ....................  2,450  — 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options     ............................................................  70  601 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities    ....................................  2,520  601 
Foreign currency effect on cash and cash equivalents     ...........................................  151  (24) 
NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS    ...................................  (11,380)  (17,558) 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Beginning of year   ...............................................................................................  13,939  31,497 
End of year   ......................................................................................................... $ 2,559 $ 13,939 

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURES:
Cash paid for interest    ......................................................................................... $ 59 $ 1 
Cash paid for taxes    ............................................................................................. $ 22 $ 28 

NON-CASH OPERATING, INVESTING, AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Property and equipment included in accounts payable  ...................................... $ 16 $ 2 
Fair value of acquisition earnout liability    .......................................................... $ — $ 900 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Limeade, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)
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NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION

Description of Business

Limeade, Inc. (the “Company” or “Limeade”) was incorporated in the state of Washington on February 23, 2006, and is 
headquartered in Bellevue, Washington. Limeade is an immersive employee well-being company that creates healthy employee 
experiences. By putting well-being at the heart of the employee experience, Limeade helps reduce burnout and turnover while 
increasing well-being and engagement — ultimately elevating business performance. The Company generates revenue through 
the sale of its software solutions to customers, which are provided via the cloud, under a subscription-based revenue model.

The Company has wholly owned subsidiaries in Canada, Germany, Vietnam, and a branch registered in Australia. These 
entities provide business development, software development, and support services.

Certain Significant Risks and Uncertainties

The Company operates in a dynamic industry and accordingly, can be affected by a variety of factors. Management believes 
that changes in several areas could have a significant negative effect on the Company in terms of the Company’s future financial 
position and results of operations or cash flows. These areas include increasing demand for the Company’s products and services, 
reliance on key personnel including the ability to attract and retain qualified employees and key personnel, competition from 
other companies with greater financial, technical, and marketing resources, scaling and adaptation of existing technology and 
network infrastructure, management of the Company’s stabilization, and protection of the Company’s brand and intellectual 
property, among other things.

In light of the current weak economic conditions, including as a result of recessions, or other adverse economic changes, 
financial and credit market fluctuations, military conflict, including the continuing war between Russia and Ukraine, and public 
health crises, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company is currently unable to fully determine its future impact on the 
Company’s business. However, the Company is monitoring these factors and its potential effect on the Company’s financial 
position, results of operations, and cash flows.

NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include those of the Company and its subsidiaries after elimination of 
all intercompany accounts and transactions. These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”).

Liquidity

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles applicable to a going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities in the normal 
course of business.

As of December 31, 2022, as reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements, the Company had a cash 
balance of $2.6 million, a net loss of $13.2million, a working capital deficit of $18.8 million, net cash used in operating activities 
of  $6.4 million, and an accumulated deficit of $62.6 million. As such, we signed the amendment in February 2023 extending the 
maturity date, implemented a reduction-in-force affecting approximately 15% of our employees in January 2023 which will result 
in additional cost savings, and have further plans to manage other headcount-related costs. Management believes that its current 
cash position, the available line of credit supplemented by its cost savings from the reduction in force, when combined with 
prudent expense management, will be sufficient to meet our working capital and capital expenditure needs for at least one year 
from the date these consolidated financial statements are issued.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period. The significant estimates include revenue recognition, allowances for doubtful accounts, useful lives of property and 
equipment and capitalized software development costs, assumptions used in stock-based compensation, measurement of the 

Limeade, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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valuation allowance for deferred tax assets and estimates of fair value of acquired assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ 
from management’s estimates and assumptions.

Recent market conditions and the COVID-19 pandemic has introduced significant additional uncertainty with respect to 
estimates, judgments and assumptions, which may materially impact the estimates previously listed.

Concentration of Credit Risk and Significant Customers

The Company maintains its cash accounts with financial institutions where, at times, deposits exceed federal insurance 
limits. The Company generally places its cash and cash equivalents with high-credit-quality counterparties and by policy, limits 
the amount deposited based on the Company’s analysis of the counterparty’s relative credit standing to manage credit risk with 
any one counterparty where deposits may exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation limits.

Credit risk with respect to accounts receivable is dispersed based on the number of the customers. No single customer 
represented more than 10% of total revenue during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Segments

The Company operates in one operating segment. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about 
which separate discrete financial information is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), who is the 
chief executive officer. The CODM assesses the performance of the Company and makes allocation decisions. 

The Company’s long-lived assets are primarily located in the US. Revenue by geographical region is included in Note 7.

Foreign Currency Translation

The Company’s consolidated financial statements are reported in U.S. dollars. The financial statements of the Company’s 
foreign subsidiaries with a functional currency other than U.S. dollars have been translated into U.S. dollars. Assets and liabilities 
of these subsidiaries are translated at the exchange rates in effect at each period-end. Income statement amounts are translated at 
the average exchange rate during the period. Translation adjustments resulting from this process are included in other 
comprehensive income (loss).

Fair Value Measurements

U.S. GAAP has established a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives 
the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurement) and the 
lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurement). This hierarchy requires entities to maximize the use of observable 
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.

The three levels of inputs used to measure fair value are as follows:

Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities

Level 2 – Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the                                                            
fair value of assets or liabilities

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of 
purchase to be cash equivalents.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are recorded net of an allowance for doubtful accounts and are generally due within 30 to 75 days. The 
allowance for doubtful accounts reflects the Company’s best estimate of losses inherent in the gross accounts receivable balance. 
The Company considers accounts outstanding longer than the contractual payment terms as past due. The Company determines 
the allowance by considering a number of factors, including the length of time accounts receivable are past due, previous loss 
history, a specific customer’s ability to pay its obligations, and the condition of the general economy and industry as a whole. 
Accounts receivable ultimately deemed uncollectible are written off against their allowance in the period in which they are 
deemed uncollectible.
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Accounts receivable include outstanding invoices issued to customers according to the terms of the Company’s contractual 
arrangements. The Company reviews accounts receivable regularly to determine if any receivable will be potentially 
uncollectible.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation expense is reported in the 
consolidated statement of operations within the operating expense category that benefits from the use of the asset. Depreciation is 
calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of those assets as follows:

Useful Life (Years)

Computer equipment and software 3 years
Furniture and equipment 3 - 5 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of remaining lease term or 5 years

Internally Developed Software

All costs related to the development of internal use software, other than those incurred during the application development 
stage, are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred during the application development stage are capitalized and amortized over the 
estimated useful life of the software, which is typically seven years. The estimated useful lives of internally developed software 
are reviewed frequently and adjusted as appropriate to reflect upcoming development activities that may include significant 
upgrades and/or enhancements to the existing functionality. Capitalized internally developed software costs are amortized on a 
straight-line basis over their expected economic lives. Amortization of these costs begins once the product is ready for its 
intended use. The amount of costs capitalized within any period is dependent on the nature of software development activities 
and projects in each period.

Goodwill, Intangible Assets, and Other Long-Lived Assets

The Company’s long-lived assets with finite lives consist primarily of property and equipment, capitalized software 
development costs, operating lease right-of-use assets and acquired intangible assets. Acquired finite-lived intangible assets 
consist of acquired technology and customer relationships, which are amortized over their estimated useful lives. Amortization 
expense for these intangible assets is included in the cost of revenue and sales & marketing lines of the consolidated statements of 
operations.

 The Company evaluates long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value of these assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability is measured by comparing the carrying amount to the future 
net undiscounted cash flows which the assets are expected to generate. If the carrying value is not recoverable, the fair value is 
determined, and an impairment is recognized for the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value. Impairment 
testing is performed at the reporting unit level. Management has determined that there was no impairment of long-lived assets for 
the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquired business over the fair value of the assets acquired at the date of 
acquisition and is not amortized. The Company reviews goodwill for impairment at least annually in the fourth quarter, or more 
frequently, if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of goodwill may not be recoverable. Goodwill 
impairment is recognized when the quantitative assessment results in the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeding its fair 
value, in which case an impairment charge is recorded to goodwill to the extent the carrying value exceeds the fair value, limited 
to the amount of goodwill. There was no impairment of goodwill recorded for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively.

Business Combinations

The Company accounts for business acquisitions using the acquisition method of accounting, which requires that the assets 
acquired, liabilities assumed, contractual contingencies and contingent consideration are recorded at the date of acquisition at 
their respective fair values. Goodwill is recorded when consideration paid in a purchase acquisition exceeds the fair value of the 
net assets acquired.

Revenue Recognition

The Company generates revenue from two primary sources: (1) software-as-a-service ("SaaS”) subscriptions (“subscription 
revenues”), and (2) add-on services (“other revenues”).
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Revenue is recognized when promised goods and services are transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services by following a five-step 
process:

1. Identify a contract(s) with a customer

2. Identify the performance obligation in the contract

3. Determine the transaction price

4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

5. Recognize revenue when (or as) the Company satisfies a performance obligation

Some of the Company’s contracts with customers contain multiple performance obligations. For these contracts, the 
Company accounts for individual performance obligations separately if they are distinct. The transaction price is allocated to the 
separate performance obligations on a relative standalone selling price (“SSP”) basis. The Company determines the standalone 
selling prices based on its overall pricing objectives, taking into consideration market conditions and other factors, including the 
value of its contracts, the products sold, customer demographics, geographic locations, and the number and types of users within 
the Company’s contracts.

The following describes the nature of the Company’s revenue and related revenue recognition policies.

Subscription Revenue

SaaS subscriptions provide customers with a right to access software hosted by the Company on the web, and services that 
include when-and-if-available updates and technical support; customers do not have a contractual right to take possession of the 
software. We typically enter into agreements with a term of three years with our customers but the substantial majority of these 
contracts allow the customer to terminate at the anniversaries without penalty. Effectively, our subscription arrangements are 
considered one-year contracts under the revenue recognition standard. Subscription fees may be invoiced annually, quarterly, or 
monthly. 

The nature of the SaaS subscription promise to the customer is to provide continuous access to the Company’s application 
platform. As such, our SaaS offerings are generally viewed as a stand-ready performance obligation comprised of a series of 
distinct daily services. Customers are granted continuous access to the platform over the contractual period and accordingly 
revenue related to subscription fees is recognized on a straight-line basis over the subscription term, beginning when the customer 
first has access to the software.

The Company also sells third-party SaaS subscriptions such as health coaching and content subscription services, which are 
contracted for and billed to the customer by the Company. In these arrangements, the Company is considered the agent, and 
therefore, revenue is recognized net of costs charged by the third-party providers to the Company on a ratable basis over the 
subscription period.

Other Revenue

Other revenue includes services pertaining to (i) onsite client program managers which are billed based on the number of 
managers and the associated fees as stated in the contract and (ii) add-on services like biometric data collection, and onsite 
screenings which are usage-based and billed based on the number of participants. Billings or payments received in advance of 
other revenue service performance are deferred and are recognized as the services are performed, or ratably over the contract 
period, depending on the service.

Performance Obligations

The Company provides multiple services under its contracts with customers comprising subscription, implementation 
services and onsite management. The Company identifies performance obligations in its contracts with customers by evaluating 
whether individual services are distinct. The Company considers a service distinct if it is (i) capable of being distinct and (ii) 
distinct within the context of the agreement. Services that are not distinct are combined into a single performance obligation.

The Company determines the transaction price based on the amount of consideration it expects to receive in exchange for 
transferring the promised goods or services to the customer. It allocates the transaction price in the contract to each distinct 
performance obligation in an amount that depicts the relative amount of consideration it expects to receive in exchange for 
satisfying each performance obligation. Revenue is recognized when performance obligations are satisfied.
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Remaining Performance Obligations

Remaining performance obligations represent contracted revenues that have not yet been recognized, which includes 
deferred revenue and amounts that will be invoiced and recognized as revenues in future periods. A substantial majority of our 
subscription arrangements contain a stated contract period of three years, with the customer’s right to terminate without penalty at 
each anniversary resulting in an effective contract period of one year. Services included in other revenue are billed a year in 
advance and revenue is recognized over the year. As such the Company has elected the practical expedient in ASC 
606-10-50-14(a) to not disclose information about its remaining performance obligations.

Judgments and Estimates

Contracts with customers often include promises to transfer multiple products and services. Determining whether products 
and services are considered distinct performance obligations that should be accounted for separately from one another requires 
judgment. The Company’s contracts often require it to perform certain setup and implementation services so that its customers 
can appropriately utilize its subscription products. Implementation services are not capable of being distinct from the subscription 
service. Instead, they are combined with the Company’s subscription services and recognized ratably over the term of the 
customer contract. In future periods, these services may qualify as distinct performance obligations which may require further 
transaction price allocation and earlier recognition of revenue for a portion of customer contracts.

Judgment is also required to determine the standalone selling price (“SSP”) for each distinct performance obligation. The 
Company typically has more than one SSP for each of its products and services based on customer stratification, which is based 
on the size of the customer, their geographic region, and market segment. For cloud-based subscriptions, SSP is generally 
observable using standalone sales and/or renewals. The Company evaluates contracts with customers that include options to 
purchase additional goods or services to determine whether the options give rise to a material right, which is a separate 
performance obligation. If the Company determines the options give rise to a material right, the revenue allocated to such right is 
not recognized until the option is exercised or the option expires.

Finally, the Company’s contracts with customers generally include performance or service level guarantees, which obligate 
the Company to certain service performance deliverables such as minimum engagement rates, minimum scores on customer 
satisfaction surveys and web-site uptime requirements. These guarantees are treated as variable consideration, which reduces the 
total transaction price for individual contracts. The Company monitors compliance with performance guarantees throughout the 
duration of each contract and has a history of meeting contract performance guarantees.

Assets Recognized from the Costs to Obtain a Contract with a Customer

The Company recognizes an asset for the incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer if it expects the benefit 
of those costs to be longer than one year. The Company’s commission plans through June 30, 2021 include substantive service 
conditions that need to be met before a commission associated with a contract (or group of contracts) is actually earned by the 
salesperson. In such cases, some or all of the sales commission may not be incremental costs incurred to obtain a contract with 
the customer since the costs were not actually incurred solely as a result of obtaining a contract with a customer. Rather the costs 
were incurred as a result of obtaining a contract with a customer and the salesperson providing ongoing services to the entity for a 
substantive period. In the second quarter of 2021, the substantive service conditions were removed from the commission plans. 
Accordingly, sales commissions paid for the acquisition of the initial subscription contract relating to sales made in the second 
half of 2021 and full year 2022 were capitalized and will be amortized over the estimated customer life of 36 months.

Contract Assets

Contract assets represent the portion of the transaction price from a contract with a customer where control has transferred, 
but for which the Company currently does not have the contractual right to invoice. The Company reduces the gross contract 
asset balance for any impairments identified based on its consideration of a combination of factors including past collection 
experience, credit quality of the customer, age of other receivables balances due from the customer and current economic 
conditions.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue represents billings or payments received in advance of revenue recognition from subscription and other 
revenue. The Company generally invoices customers monthly, semi-annually, or annually in advance of providing services.
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Customer Deposits

Customer deposits represents payments received in advance of revenue recognition from subscription and third-party 
services that are subject to cancellation and refund provisions.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method. The Company’s deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are determined based on temporary differences between the financial reporting and income tax basis of assets and 
liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates expected to apply in the years when the differences are expected to 
reverse. A valuation allowance is recorded when it is more likely than not that some of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. 
The Company assesses its income tax positions and records income taxes based upon management’s evaluation of the facts, 
circumstances, and information available at the reporting date.

The Company determines whether its uncertain tax positions are more likely than not to be sustained upon examination 
based on the technical merits of the position. For tax positions not meeting the more likely than not threshold, the tax amount 
recognized in the consolidated financial statements is reduced by the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of 
being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant taxing authority. The Company does not have any uncertain tax 
positions as of December 31, 2022 or December 31, 2021.

Stock-based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based payment awards made to employees and directors under Accounting Standards 
Codification ("ASC") Share-Based Payments ("ASC 718"), which requires measurement and recognition of compensation 
expense for all share-based payment awards based on fair value. The Company estimates the fair value of stock-based payment 
awards using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Black-Scholes model incorporates various assumptions, including 
expected volatility, dividend yields, risk-free interest rates, weighted-average expected lives, and estimated forfeitures of options.

Under ASC 718, stock-based compensation expense is recognized based on the value of the portion of stock-based payment 
awards that is ultimately expected to vest during the period. The Company recognizes compensation expense for all stock-based 
payment awards made to employees and directors using a straight-line method, generally over a service period of four years.

Stock-based compensation cost for restricted stock units (“RSUs”) is recognized on a straight-line basis in the consolidated 
statements of operations over the period during which the participant is required to perform services in exchange for the award, 
based on the fair value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. The vesting period of each RSU grant is generally 
four years and stock-based compensation is adjusted for the impact of estimated forfeitures.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses include payroll, employee benefits, and other headcount-related costs associated with 
product development. Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.

Leases

The Company adopted ASC Topic 842, Leases (“ASC 842”) on January 1, 2019. Under ASC 842, the Company determines 
if an arrangement is a lease at inception, and leases are classified at commencement as either operating or finance leases. Right-
of-use (“ROU”) assets and lease liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of the future 
minimum lease payments over the lease term. Operating lease ROU assets are presented in long-term assets in the consolidated 
balance sheets and operating lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. As most of the Company’s 
operating leases do not provide an implicit rate, management uses its incremental borrowing rate, available at the commencement 
date, in determining the present value of future payments. This rate is an estimate of the collateralized borrowing rate it would 
incur on the future lease payments over a similar term based on the information available at commencement date. The 
Company’s lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that it will exercise that 
option. 

The Company utilizes certain practical expedients and policy elections available under the lease accounting standard. It does 
not record right-of-use assets or lease liabilities for leases with terms of 12 months or less, and it combines lease and non-lease 
components for contracts containing real estate leases. Right-of-use assets are subject to evaluation for impairment or disposal on 
a basis consistent with other long-lived assets.
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Contingencies

A loss contingency is recorded if it is probable and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. The Company 
assesses, among other factors, the probability of an adverse outcome and its ability to make a reasonable estimate of the ultimate 
loss.

Net Loss per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

The Company calculates basic net loss per share by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of the Company’s 
common stock shares outstanding during the respective period. The Company calculates diluted net loss per share by adjusting 
basic net loss per share for the potential dilutive impacts of outstanding stock options and restricted stock units (“RSUs”).The 
denominator of the diluted net loss per share calculation is adjusted for these securities if the impact of doing so increases net loss 
per share.

During the periods presented, the impact is to decrease net loss per share and therefore the Company is precluded from 
adjusting its calculation for these securities. As a result, diluted net loss per share is calculated using the same formula as basic 
net loss per share.

The following potentially dilutive securities were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share calculations 
for the periods presented because of the impact of including them would have been anti-dilutive:

December 31,
2022 2021

Stock options  26,753,357  20,249,586 
RSUs  9,391,808  7,184,250 
Total  36,145,165  27,433,836 

Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In June 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses: Measurement of Credit Losses on 
Financial Instruments. As a smaller reporting company, this guidance requires an entity to measure and recognize expected credit 
losses for certain financial instruments and financial assets, including trade receivables. This guidance is effective for the 
Company on January 1, 2023 with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of 
this standard on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures and does not expect a material impact.

NOTE 3 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Cash equivalents invested in money market funds are classified as Level 1. Acquisition earnout liabilities are classified as 
Level 3 because the Company uses unobservable inputs to value them, reflecting its assessment of the assumptions market 
participants would use to value these liabilities (refer to Note 14). Changes in the fair value of earnout liabilities are recorded in 
other income (loss), net in the consolidated statements of operations. The following tables summarizes the valuation of financial 
instruments within the fair-value hierarchy as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021.

December 31, 2022
(in thousands) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets:      .........................................................................
Cash equivalents     ....................................................... $ — $ — $ — $ — 

Liabilities:   ....................................................................
Acquisition earnout liability   ...................................... $ — $ — $ — $ — 

December 31, 2021
(in thousands) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets:      .........................................................................
Cash equivalents     ....................................................... $ 379 $ 379 $ — $ — 

Liabilities:   ....................................................................
Acquisition earnout liability   ...................................... $ 900 $ — $ — $ 900 
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NOTE 4 – BALANCE SHEET COMPONENTS

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following:
December 31,

(in thousands) 2022 2021

Prepaid gift card costs  ................................................................................................ $ 4,001 $ 3,296 
Prepaid software     ........................................................................................................  1,386  1,556 
Prepaid insurance   .......................................................................................................  150  97 
Prepaid marketing  ......................................................................................................  57  164 
Other    ..........................................................................................................................  511  320 
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets     ........................................................ $ 6,105 $ 5,433 

A way in which our customer can enhance their employees’ experiences utilizing our software solutions is to reward their 
employees through third-party gift cards. 

When the customer is invoiced for the third-party gift cards earned by their employees, the Company recognizes an accrued 
gift card liability. When the customer pays the invoice, the Company deposits the funds into the customer’s account with the 
third-party provider and a prepaid gift card asset is recognized. As employees of our customers redeem their earned third-party 
gift cards the balance of the asset and liability are both decreased until the deposit for the customer is exhausted or until the 
customer terminates the service and requests a refund of their unused balance. Revenue related to commissions earned from 
selling the third-party gift cards to our customers is recognized when the third-party gift cards are redeemed by our customers 
employees, which is immaterial for all periods presented. If a customer was to terminate their contract, the unused balances in 
their gift cards would be refunded. The Company does not expect to be entitled to a breakage amount, and to date, the likelihood 
of customers exercising their remaining rights is not remote.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of the following:
December 31,

(in thousands) 2022 2021

Computer equipment and software    ............................................................................ $ 2,001 $ 1,745 
Furniture and equipment    ............................................................................................  660  660 
Leasehold improvements     ...........................................................................................  606  607 
Total   ...........................................................................................................................  3,267  3,012 

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization     ..................................................  (2,854)  (2,571) 
Total property and equipment, net    ............................................................................. $ 413 $ 441 

Depreciation and amortization expense for property and equipment was $0.3 million and $0.3 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Capitalized Software Development Costs 

The Company capitalized $7.3 million and $3.7 million of internally developed software costs for the years ended 
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Amortization expense related to capitalized software was $1.6 million and $1.1 
million for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and is included in cost of revenue in the consolidated 
statements of operations. Further the Company recorded accumulated amortization of $3.8 million and $2.2 million as of 
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
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Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2022 2021

Accrued gift card liability     .......................................................................................... $ 5,390 $ 3,978 
Accrued compensation     ..............................................................................................  4,057  3,748 
Accrued vendor costs .................................................................................................  2,036  1,927 
Performance guarantee liability    .................................................................................  1,150  710 
Other    ..........................................................................................................................  423  340 
Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities  .................................................. $ 13,056 $ 10,703 

NOTE 5 – GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible Assets

Finite-lived intangible assets consisted of the following:

December 31, 2022

(in thousands)
Useful Life 

(Years) Gross
Accumulated 
Amortization Net

Customer relationships  ........................................ 5 $ 4,878 $ (2,478) $ 2,400 
Technology .......................................................... 5  600  (170)  430 
Total intangible assets     ......................................... $ 5,478 $ (2,648) $ 2,830 

December 31, 2021

(in thousands)
Useful Life 

(Years) Gross
Accumulated 
Amortization Net

Customer relationships  ........................................ 5 $ 4,878 $ (1,502) $ 3,376 
Technology .......................................................... 5  600  (50)  550 
Total intangible assets     ......................................... $ 5,478 $ (1,552) $ 3,926 

Amortization expense for finite-lived intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, was $1.1 million, 
and $0.7 million, respectively.

Estimated future amortization expense of intangible assets as of December 31, 2022 is as follows:

(in thousands)

2023      ...................................................................................................................................................... $ 970 
2024      ......................................................................................................................................................  720 
2025      ......................................................................................................................................................  720 
2026      ......................................................................................................................................................  420 
Total    ...................................................................................................................................................... $ 2,830 

NOTE 6 – 401(k) Plan

In September 2011, the Company adopted a retirement plan (the "401(k) Plan") under Section 401(k) of the Internal 
Revenue Code. The Plan covers substantially all employees of the Company who meet minimum age and service requirements 
and allows for participants to defer a portion of their annual compensation on a pre-tax basis subject to annual regulatory 
contribution limitations. Plan assets are held separately from those of the Company in funds under the control of a third-party 
trustee.
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In October 2020, the Company amended the 401(k) Plan to include an employer matching contribution retroactive to 
January 1, 2020, with 100% immediate vesting. The Company will make matching contributions of 50% to each participant's 
before-tax and Roth elective contributions, limited to 3% of the participant's compensation each pay period for each employee 
who has met the match contribution eligibility criteria. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had 
accrued $0.2 million and $0.1 million, respectively, related to the Company matching contribution. These amounts are included 
in accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

NOTE 7 – REVENUE AND DEFERRED REVENUE

Disaggregation of Revenue

The following table summarizes revenue by geographic area, which is based on the billing address of the customer:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2022 2021

Revenue:
United States      ....................................................................................................... $ 52,522 $ 53,061 
Other   ....................................................................................................................  3,495  2,135 

Total revenue     .......................................................................................................... $ 56,017 $ 55,196 

Performance Guarantees

Reserves for estimated contract performance guarantees are established based on historical performance and are recognized 
as a reduction of revenue and as accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. The 
performance guarantee reserve liability is $1.2 million and $0.7 million as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Contract Costs

The activity of the deferred contract acquisition costs consisted of the following: 

December 31,
(in thousands) 2022 2021

Beginning balance  .................................................................................. $ 670 $ — 
Capitalization of contract acquisition costs   ...........................................  1,430  717 
Amortization of deferred contract acquisition costs   ..............................  (362)  (47) 
Ending balance   ....................................................................................... $ 1,738 $ 670 

Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities

Contract assets represent the portion of the transaction price from a contract with a customer where control has transferred, 
but for which the Company currently does not have the contractual right to invoice. The Company did not have any contract 
assets as of December 31, 2022 or December 31, 2021.

Contract liabilities consist of deferred revenue. Timing may differ between the satisfaction of performance obligations and 
the billing and collection of amounts related to contracts with customers. Revenue is deferred for amounts that are billed in 
advance of the satisfaction of performance obligations.

Deferred revenue as of December 31, 2022, is expected to be recognized within the next 12 months as the revenue 
recognition criteria are met. 

A summary of the activity impacting deferred revenue balances are presented below:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2022 2021

Beginning balance   ................................................................................................... $ 13,528 $ 10,089 
Additional amounts deferred  ...................................................................................  58,833  58,635 
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Revenue recognized     ................................................................................................  (56,017)  (55,196) 
Ending balance      ........................................................................................................ $ 16,344 $ 13,528 

NOTE 8 – INCOME TAXES

Domestic and foreign components of loss before income tax are as follows:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2022 2021

Domestic     ................................................................................................................. $ (11,051) $ (9,863) 
Foreign   ....................................................................................................................  (2,136)  (77) 
Total    ........................................................................................................................ $ (13,187) $ (9,940) 

Major components of the income tax provision are as follows:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2022 2021

Current
Federal ..................................................................................................................... $ — $ — 
State  .........................................................................................................................  29  5 
Foreign   ....................................................................................................................  5  15 
Total current income tax provision       .........................................................................  34  20 
Deferred     ..................................................................................................................
Federal .....................................................................................................................  4  5 
State  .........................................................................................................................  —  — 
Foreign   ....................................................................................................................  —  — 
Total deferred income tax provision (benefit)      ........................................................  4  5 
Total    ........................................................................................................................ $ 38 $ 25 

The statutory tax rate used was 21% at December 31, 2022 and 2021. A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory tax rate 
to the Company's provision for income taxes is as follows:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2022 2021

Tax at statutory rate     ................................................................................................ $ (2,776) $ (2,207) 
State taxes    ...............................................................................................................  23  4 
Stock-based compensation  ......................................................................................  88  129 
Federal tax credits     ...................................................................................................  728  (688) 
Foreign rate differential   ..........................................................................................  29  (70) 
Transaction cost - TINYpulse  .................................................................................  —  64 
Deferred     ..................................................................................................................  —  99 
Change in valuation allowance     ...............................................................................  2,675  2,675 
Other   .......................................................................................................................  (729)  19 
Total    ........................................................................................................................ $ 38 $ 25 

Operating Loss Carryforwards

At December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $46.9 million 
and $50.9 million, respectively, which may be used to offset future taxable income. The carryforwards, excluding $17.8 million 
of operating loss carryforwards that are indefinite-lived, will expire starting in 2028. The Company’s ability to utilize its 
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carryforwards is dependent on generating sufficient taxable income prior to their expiration. A full valuation allowance has been 
established to reflect the uncertainty of generating future taxable income necessary to realize the Company’s tax loss 
carryforwards and other deferred tax assets.

Current tax laws impose substantial restrictions on the utilization of net operating loss carryforwards in the event of an 
ownership change, as defined by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. Since the losses incurred are fully reserved by a 
valuation allowance, any limitation related to Section 382 will not have a material impact on the financial statement. The 
limitation on net operating loss carryforwards could impact the deferred tax asset and corresponding valuation allowance below.

Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of the Company’s deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2022 2021

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss    ........................................................................................ $ 11,804 $ 12,268 
174 Capitalization     ........................................................................................  2,764  — 
Nondeductible reserves   ................................................................................  844  396 
Research and development credit carryforward      ..........................................  2,525  3,252 
Lease liabilities     ............................................................................................  203  485 
Equity Compensation   ...................................................................................  831  363 
Other     ............................................................................................................  90  82 

Total deferred tax assets    ...........................................................................  19,061  16,846 
Deferred tax liabilities:

Software development costs    ........................................................................  (1,563)  (1,988) 
Right-of-use assets     .......................................................................................  (186)  (419) 
TINYpulse intangible assets    ........................................................................  (594)  (773) 
Other     ............................................................................................................  (400)  (20) 

Total deferred tax liabilities     .....................................................................  (2,743)  (3,200) 
Net deferred tax assets before valuation allowance      ........................................  16,318  13,646 
Valuation allowance   ........................................................................................  (16,331)  (13,656) 
Net deferred tax liability    .................................................................................. $ (13) $ (10) 
Net operating loss carryforward   ...................................................................... $ 46,873 $ 50,930 

The Company adheres to requirements for uncertain tax positions, which had no financial statement impact to the Company 
upon adoption due to the existing valuation allowance on deferred tax assets. The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. 
federal and several state jurisdictions. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, there is no accrued interest or penalties recorded in the 
consolidated financial statements.

Due to the Company’s net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards, all federal and state tax returns are subject to tax 
examinations since the Company’s inception.

NOTE 9 – STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

The Company is authorized to issue two classes of stock designated as common stock and preferred stock. No shares of 
preferred stock were outstanding as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Common Stock

As of December 31, 2022, there were 257,245,284 shares of common stock issued and outstanding. At December 31, 2021, 
there were 253,621,067 shares of common stock issued and outstanding. Common stock of the Company has no preferences or 
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privileges and is not redeemable. Holders of common stock of the Company are entitled to one vote for each share of common 
stock held. 

Common Shares Reserved for Future Issuance

The following shares of common stock have been reserved for future issuance:

December 31,
2022 2021

Common stock options and restricted stock units outstanding    ..................................  36,145,165  27,628,500 
Common stock and restricted stock units available for grant      ....................................  18,135,949  23,885,495 
Total common shares reserved for future issuance  ....................................................  54,281,114  51,513,995 

NOTE 10 – STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Effective December 20, 2019, the Company adopted the 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2019 Plan”) and terminated the 
Company’s authority to grant new awards under the 2006 Stock Plan (the “2006 Plan”) and the 2016 Stock Plan (the “2016 
Plan”). The 2016 Plan and 2006 Plan were stockholder approved plans that authorized shares of the Company’s common stock 
for issuance to employees, directors, and consultants through incentive stock options, non-statutory stock options, or stock 
purchase right agreements. The 2019 Plan has a total of 46,822,211 shares reserved and available for issuance to employees, 
directors, and consultants through incentive stock options, non-statutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock 
grants, restricted stock unit grants, performance grants, and other grants, of which 18,135,949 and 23,885,495 shares remained 
available for grant as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The Board of Directors determines the option exercise price and generally grants stock options at exercise prices that equal 
or exceed the fair value of the common stock on the date of grant. The terms of the options may not exceed ten years. Vesting 
terms are determined by the Board of Directors and generally vest over four years, with 25% vesting after 12 months and 75% 
vesting ratably over the remaining 36 months.

In determining the fair value of stock options granted to employees, the following assumptions were used in the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model for the following:

December 31,
2022 2021

Per share value of common stock     ................................................. $0.10  — $0.34 $0.47 — $1.22
Risk-free interest rates    .................................................................. 1.67%  — 3.38% 0.71% — 0.99%
Expected term (in years)   ............................................................... 5.60 5.43 — 5.60
Dividend rate    ................................................................................ —% —%
Volatility  ....................................................................................... 74.40% 71.55%  — 79.23%

The per share value of common stock was based on the Company's stock price as of each grant date. The risk-free interest 
rates are based on the implied yield currently available in U.S. Treasury securities at maturity with an equivalent term. The 
Company estimates the weighted-average expected life of the options to employees based on past option exercise behavior and 
expectations about future behavior. Forfeiture rates were derived from historical employee termination behavior. As the 
Company has limited historical trading data regarding the volatility of its common stock, the expected volatility is based on the 
Company’s trading data since IPO. The Company has not declared or paid dividends in the past and does not currently expect to 
do so in the foreseeable future.
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The impact on results of operations of recording stock-based compensation expense was as follows:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2022 2021

Cost of revenue       .................................................................................................... $ 382 $ 343 
Sales and marketing       .............................................................................................  509  426 
Research and development     ...................................................................................  830  758 
General and administrative   ...................................................................................  703  360 
Total stock-based compensation    .......................................................................... $ 2,424 $ 1,887 

The following table summarizes stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2022:

Options 
Outstanding

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 

Life

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 

Value
(in years) (in thousands)

Outstanding at December 31, 2021    ......................................  20,249,586 $ 0.51 7.81 $ 1,459 
Options granted      ....................................................................  11,365,468  0.21 
Options forfeited    ..................................................................  (3,588,765)  0.59 
Options expired      ....................................................................  (682,683)  0.46 
Options exercised   .................................................................  (590,249)  0.13 
Outstanding at December 31, 2022    ......................................  26,753,357 $ 0.38 7.32 $ 34 
Options vested or expected to vest at December 31, 2022    ..  25,434,496 $ 0.38 7.24 $ 34 
Exercisable at December 31, 2022     ......................................  11,303,516 $ 0.41 4.90 $ 15 

At December 31, 2022, total compensation cost related to stock options granted to employees but not yet recognized was 
$1.7 million, net of estimated forfeitures. This cost will be amortized using the straight-line method over a weighted-average 
period of approximately 2.3 years. The aggregate intrinsic value represents the difference between the exercise price of the 
underlying options and the fair value of common stock for the number of options that were in-the-money at year end. The 
Company issues new shares of common stock upon exercise of stock options.

The following table summarizes certain information about stock options for the following:

December 31,
(in thousands, except shares and per share data) 2022 2021

Weighted-average grant date fair value for options granted during the period   ......... $ 0.09 $ 0.44 
Options in the money at period-end      ..........................................................................  217,672  7,430,263 
Aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised    .......................................................... $ 95 $ 3,441 

In May 2020, the Company began granting RSUs under the 2019 Plan. The following table summarizes the RSU activity for 
the year ended December 31, 2022:

Number of 
Shares

Weighted 
Average Grant 
Date Fair Value

Restricted stock units unvested at December 31, 2021    .............................................  7,184,250 $ 0.68 
Restricted stock units granted    ....................................................................................  7,899,854  0.13 
Restricted stock units vested   ......................................................................................  (3,033,968)  0.46 
Restricted stock units forfeited    ..................................................................................  (2,658,328)  0.55 
Restricted stock units unvested at December 31, 2022    .............................................  9,391,808 $ 0.32 
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As of December 31, 2022, total compensation cost related to RSUs but not yet recognized was $2.8 million, net of estimated 
forfeitures, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 2.69 years.

NOTE 11 – LEASES

The Company’s leasing arrangements are primarily for corporate offices and automobiles, and these arrangements have 
agreements that include lease components (e.g., fixed rent) and non-lease components (e.g., common area maintenance), which 
are accounted for as a single component. The Company’s leases have various expiration dates through 2024. Certain lease 
agreements include options to extend the lease term for up to an additional 5 years, which are not reasonably certain to be 
exercised.

December 31,
2022 2021

Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years) for operating leases   ................... 0.8 1.9
Weighted-average discount rate      ................................................................................  6.0 %  5.9 %

For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company expensed $2.1 million and $1.7 million respectively related 
to operating leases costs. Included in the operating lease expenses are certain variable payments related to common area 
maintenance and property taxes. Expenses for variable payments were $0.4 million and $0.5 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 

The following table presents the Company’s future lease payments for long-term operating leases as of December 31, 2022:

(in thousands) Operating Leases

2023      ...................................................................................................................................................... $ 1,359 
2024      ......................................................................................................................................................  39 
Thereafter     ..............................................................................................................................................  — 
Total    ......................................................................................................................................................  1,398 
Less: Imputed interest     ...........................................................................................................................  (32) 
Total operating lease liabilities  ............................................................................................................. $ 1,366 

Cash paid for operating lease liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was $1.7 million and $1.0 million, 
respectively. 

NOTE 12 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Litigation

The Company is not aware of any pending legal proceedings that individually or in the aggregate would have a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results, or financial conditions. The Company may in the future be party to 
litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. Such claims, even if not meritorious, could result in the expenditure of 
significant financial and managerial resources.

Guarantees and Other

The Company includes indemnification provisions in its contracts entered into with customers and business partners. 
Generally, these provisions require the Company to defend claims arising out of its products’ infringement of third-party 
intellectual property rights, breach of contractual obligations, and/or unlawful or otherwise culpable conduct. The indemnity 
obligations generally cover damages, costs, and attorneys’ fees arising out of such claims. In most (but not all) cases, the total 
liability under such provisions is limited to either the value of the contract or a specified, agreed-upon amount. In some cases, the 
total liability under such provisions is not specified. In many (but not all) cases, the term of the indemnity provision is perpetual. 
While the maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under all the indemnification 
provisions is unlimited, the Company believes the estimated fair value of these provisions is minimal, as these provisions have 
never been triggered.
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NOTE 13 – DEBT

Loan and Security Agreement

On May 10, 2019, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement with Comerica Bank (as amended or otherwise 
modified from time to time, the Credit Facility) that consists of a $15.0 million Credit Facility. On August 3, 2022 the Company 
entered into Amendment No. 4 to its Credit Facility. Pursuant to the terms of the amendment, the maturity date of the Credit 
Facility was extended to December 31, 2023 and replaces the requirement regarding minimum annual contract value with a 
borrowing base calculation based on the Company’s balance of accounts receivables. The obligations under the Credit Facility 
are collateralized by substantially all assets of the Company, including intellectual property, receivables and other tangible and 
intangible assets. The Credit Facility includes affirmative and negative covenants. The Company has executed a couple of 
amendments to the Credit Facility after December 31, 2022, as discussed in Note 15.

Interest on outstanding borrowings is the Prime Referenced Rate and is equal to the prime rate in effect on such day and the 
Prime Referenced Rate shall not be less than the greater of (i) the sum of Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR Rate) plus 
2.50% per annum, or (ii) two and one-half percent (2.50%) per annum. If, at any time, Bank determines that it is unable to 
determine or ascertain the SOFR Rate for any day, the Prime Referenced Rate for each such day shall be the Prime Rate in effect 
at such time, but not less than two and one-half percent (2.50%) per annum.

As of December 31, 2022, the total borrowings outstanding was $2.5 million and the Company was in compliance with all 
covenants of the Credit Facility. 

NOTE 14 – BUSINESS COMBINATION

On July 28, 2021 the Company acquired TINYpulse, a Seattle based leader in listening software. The merger allows the 
Company to expand its technology offerings and gain traction in the small to medium customer market segment. The TINYpulse 
products, Limeade Listening, will continue to be offered and supported to existing customers, while also being expanded to new 
customers and markets. The total consideration transferred related to this transaction was $9.1 million of cash consideration and 
an additional estimated earnout consideration of $0.9 million. The earnout consideration has defined evaluation periods at six, 
twelve, and eighteen months after the merger date and will be paid to the pre-merger company if the CARR targets are met in an 
amount equal to the total amount of revenue above the CARR targets. The fair value of the earnout consideration was estimated 
using a Monte Carlo simulation that utilized assumptions of estimated future revenue from TINYpulse, revenue volatility, and 
certain discount rates.

The TINYpulse acquisition has been accounted for as a business combination under the acquisition method in which 
Limeade was determined to be the acquirer, and assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recorded at their estimated fair 
values as of July 28, 2021. Goodwill, which represents the expected synergies from combining the acquired assets and operations 
of the acquirer, as well as intangible assets that do not qualify for separate recognition, is measured as of the acquisition date as 
the excess of consideration transferred, which is also measured at fair value, over the net of the fair values of the assets acquired 
and the liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date. The goodwill has been determined to be deductible for tax purposes. 
Acquisition-related costs incurred, which primarily included legal, accounting and other external costs directly related to the 
acquisition, are included within general and administrative operating expenses within our consolidated statements of operations 
and were expensed as incurred.

The financial results of the acquired business are included in the Company’s consolidated results from the date of 
acquisition.
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The total purchase price has been allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, including identifiable intangible 
assets, based on their respective fair values at the acquisition date. The total purchase price was allocated as follows:

(in thousands) Amount

Assets acquired:
Cash and cash equivalents   ................................................................................................................. $ 83 
Accounts receivable       ..........................................................................................................................  775 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   .........................................................................................  257 
Property and equipment       ....................................................................................................................  9 
Operating lease right-of-use asset   .....................................................................................................  1,381 
Other non-current asset      .....................................................................................................................  29 
Developed technology and customer relationship intangibles       ..........................................................  3,600 
Goodwill   ............................................................................................................................................  7,127 

Total assets acquired   ......................................................................................................................  13,261 
Liabilities assumed:

Trade payables   ...................................................................................................................................  46 
Accrued compensation    ......................................................................................................................  721 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   ..................................................................................  72 
Operating lease right-of-use liability  .................................................................................................  1,381 
Deferred revenue   ...............................................................................................................................  1,050 

Total liabilities acquired      ................................................................................................................  3,270 
Net assets acquired   ................................................................................................................................ $ 9,991 

The Company utilizes different valuation approaches and methodologies to determine fair value of acquired intangible 
assets. A summary of the valuation methodologies, significant assumptions, and estimated useful lives of acquired intangible 
assets in the TINYpulse merger are provided in the table below (in thousands):

Intangible Assigned Value Valuation Methodology Discount Rate
Estimated 
Useful Life

Technology      ...................................... $ 600 Relief from royalty 18.6% 5 years
Customer relationships      .................... $ 3,000 Multi-period excess earnings 18.6% 5 years

The excess of purchase price over the net identified tangible and intangible assets is $7.1 million and has been recorded as 
goodwill, which includes synergies expected from the new customer segments and additional software capabilities.

NOTE 15– SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 12, 2023, the Company announced a restructuring plan to reduce the Company's operations to preserve financial 
resources, resulting in a reduction of the Company’s workforce by 15% and restructure of Research and Development, Product, 
Customer Operations, Customer Success, Marketing and Sales teams. Costs are anticipated to be approximately $1.3 million and 
annualized savings are anticipated to be approximately $7.0 million. 

On January 19, 2023 and February 22, 2023, the Company executed the fifth and sixth amendment, respectively, to our 
revolving credit facility with Comerica. These amendments reduce the borrowing capacity from $15.0 million to $10.0 million 
and adds an adjusted EBITDA requirement wherein the Company is required to achieve and maintain certain minimum adjusted 
EBITDA at the various measurement periods outlined in the amendment and the maturity date of the Credit Facility is extended 
to March 31, 2024. The amendments limits the borrowing capacity up to $6.0 million until the Company performs certain 
administrative tasks and thereafter the borrowing capacity increases to $10.0 million. 

On January 20, 2023, the Company borrowed $2.5 million through its Credit Facility bringing the total outstanding balance 
to $5.0 million.
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 ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING 
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

None.

 ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Principal Accounting 
Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K. The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act), means controls and other procedures of a company that are 
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the 
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. 
Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information 
required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and 
communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons 
performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely Principal Accounting Officer concluded that, as of the end of the 
period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable 
assurance level.

Remediation of previously reported material weakness

In connection with the preparation of our financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021, we identified a 
material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of 
our financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The material weakness related to a lack of qualified 
supervisory accounting resources, including those necessary to account for and disclose certain technical accounting matters and 
for which we lacked the technical expertise to identify, analyze and appropriately record those transactions.

As part of the remediation process, we implemented additional measures including the hiring of qualified supervisory 
resources, the engagement of technical accounting consulting resources and hired additional finance department employees and 
as such the material weakness was remediated as of December 31, 2022.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting

Other than the changes intended to remediate the material weaknesses noted above, there were no changes in our internal 
control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the period covered 
by this Annual Report on Form 10-K that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal 
control over financial reporting.

Management’s report on internal control over financial reporting

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal control over 
financial reporting or an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm due to a transition period 
established by the rules of the SEC for newly public companies.

 ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

[None.]

 ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTION THAT PREVENT 
INSPECTIONS

Not applicable.
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Part III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES

The information required by this Item of Form 10-K will be included in our definitive proxy statement (the “Proxy 
Statement”) to be filed with the SEC in connection with the solicitation of proxies for our 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders 
and is incorporated herein by reference. The Proxy Statement will be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the 
fiscal year to which this Annual Report relates.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The information required by this Item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR 
INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
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Part IV

 ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report:

All financial statements are set forth under Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Financial statement schedules have 
been omitted since they are either not required, not applicable, or the information is otherwise included.

(b)Exhibits: The exhibits listed in the accompanying index to exhibits are filed or incorporated by reference as part of this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit 
Number Exhibit Description

Filed  
herewith Form File No. Filing Date

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation 10-12G/A 000-56464 12/05/2022
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws 10-12G/A 000-56464 12/05/2022
4.4 Description of Securities X

10.1# Form of Director Agreement 10-12G/A 000-56464 12/05/2022
10.2# Limeade Amended and Restated 2006 Stock Plan 10-12G/A 000-56464 12/05/2022
10.3# Limeade Amended 2016 Stock Plan 10-12G/A 000-56464 12/05/2022
10.4# Limeade 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan 10-12G/A 000-56464 12/05/2022
10.5# Form of Option Agreement under 2019 Omnibus Incentive Plan1 10-12G/A 000-56464 12/05/2022
10.6# Form of Notice of Award for RSUs1 10-12G/A 000-56464 12/05/2022
10.7 Revolving Credit and Security Agreement between Limeade and Comerica Bank1 10-12G/A 000-56464 12/05/2022
10.7.1 First Amendment to the Revolving Credit and Security Agreement between Limeade and 

Comerica Bank 10-12G/A 000-56464 12/05/2022
10.7.2 Second Amendment to the Revolving Credit and Security Agreement between Limeade and 

Comerica Bank 10-12G/A 000-56464 12/05/2022
10.7.3 Third Amendment to the Revolving Credit and Security Agreement between Limeade and 

Comerica Bank 10-12G/A 000-56464 12/05/2022
10.7.4 Amendment No. 4 to Revolving Credit and Security Agreement, dated August 4, 2022, by and 

between the Company and Comerica Bank 10-Q 000-56464 11/14/2022
10.8# Executive Employment Agreement, dated March 1, 2022, between Limeade and Larry 

Colagiovanni 10-12G/A 000-56464 12/05/2022
10.9# Executive Employment Agreement, dated March 1, 2022, between Limeade and Todd Spartz 10-12G/A 000-56464 12/05/2022
10.10# Executive Employment Agreement, dated March 1, 2022, between Limeade and Henry Albrecht 10-12G/A 000-56464 12/05/2022
10.11 Lease Agreement, dated August 1, 2018, between Limeade and Hines Global REIT Summit 

Holdings LLC 10-12G/A 000-56464 12/05/2022
10.12 Lease Agreement, dated August 17, 2017, between TINYhr and Selig Holdings Company 10-12G/A 000-56464 12/05/2022
10.13# Executive Employment Agreement between Limeade, Inc. and David Smith 10-Q 000-56464 11/14/2022
10.14 Amendment No. 5 to Revolving Credit and Security Agreement, dated January 19, 2023, by and 

between the Company and Comerica Bank
X

10.15 Amendment No. 6 to Revolving Credit and Security Agreement, dated February 23, 2023, by 
and between the Company and Comerica Bank

X

21.1 Subsidiaries of Registrant X

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm X

31.1
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as Adopted 
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

X

31.2
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), As Adopted 
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

X

32**
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant and Chief Financial Officer  to 18 U.S.C. 
Section 1350 As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101 The following financial information from Workiva Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K  for the 
year  ended December 31, 2022 formatted in Inline XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting 
Language) includes: (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations, (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss, (iv) the Consolidated 
Statements of Changes in Stockholders Equity, (v) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, 
and (vi) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

X

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101) X
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**     The certifications attached as Exhibit 32 that accompany this Annual Report on Form 10-K are deemed furnished and 
not filed with the SEC and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act or the 
Exchange Act, whether made before or after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, irrespective of any general 
incorporation language contained in such filing.

#   Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

 ITEM 16. Form 10-K Summary

None
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 of 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused 
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

LIMEADE, INC.

By: /s/ Henry Albrecht

Name: Henry Albrecht

Chief Executive Officer

By: /s/ Paul Crick

Name: Paul Crick

Date: February 28, 2023
Vice President, Finance and 
Controller

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 of 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused 
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Henry Albrecht Chief Executive Officer February 28, 2023

Henry Albrecht (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Paul Crick Vice President, Finance and Controller February 28, 2023
Paul Crick (Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Elizabeth Bastoni Chair, Non-executive Director February 28, 2023

Elizabeth Bastoni

/s/ Deven Billimoria Non-executive Director February 28, 2023

Deven Billimoria

/s/ Steve Hamerslag Non-executive Director February 28, 2023

Steve Hamerslag

/s/ Lisa MacCallum Non-executive Director February 28, 2023

Lisa MacCallum

/s/ Mia Mends Non-executive Director February 28, 2023

Mia Mends

/s/ Lisa Nelson Non-executive Director February 28, 2023

Lisa Nelson
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Additional Securities Exchange Information 

In accordance with ASX Listing Rule 4.10, the Company provides the following information to shareholders not 
elsewhere disclosed in this Annual Report. The information provided is current as at 13 February 2023.

Corporate Governance Statement

The Company’s Directors and management are committed to conducting the Group’s business in an ethical manner 
and in accordance with the highest standards of corporate governance. The Company has adopted and substantially 
complies with the ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (Fourth Edition) 
(Recommendations) to the extent appropriate to the size and nature of the Group’s operations. 

The Company has prepared a statement which sets out the corporate governance practices that were in operation 
throughout the financial year for the Company, identifies any Recommendations that have not been followed, and 
provides reasons for not following such Recommendations (Corporate Governance Statement). 

In accordance with ASX Listing Rules 4.10.3 and 4.7.4, the Corporate Governance Statement will be available for 
review on Limeades’ website at https://investors.limeade.com/investor-relations/?page=corporate-governance and 
will be lodged together with an Appendix 4G with ASX at the same time that this Annual Report is lodged with 
ASX.

The Appendix 4G will particularise each Recommendation that needs to be reported against by Limeade and will 
provide shareholders with information as to where relevant governance disclosures can be found. 

The Company’s corporate governance policies and charters are all available on Limeade’s website https://
investors.limeade.com/investor-relations/?page=corporate-governance

Substantial holders

As at the Reporting Date, the names of the substantial holders of the Company and the number of equity securities in 
which those substantial holders and their associates have a relevant interest, as disclosed in substantial holding 
notices given to the Company, are as follows:

Holder of Equity Securities
Class of Equity 
Securities

Number of Equity 
Securities held

% of total issued 
securities capital in 

relevant class
Henry Albrecht CDI’s 40,311,485 15.66%
Perennial Value Management Ltd CDI’s 38,037,982 14.78%
Australian Ethical CDI’s 36,839,990 14.32%
TVC Capital II LP CDI’s 36,658,282 14.24%
Oak HC/FT Partners LP CDI’s 27,380,178 10.64%

Number of holders and securities

Limeade Inc. has issued the following securities:
– 257,396,022 CDI’s
– 1,074,900 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares (not quoted)
– 9,098,983 Restricted Stock Units
– 23,105,628 Options



As at the Reporting Date, the number of holders in each class of equity securities is as follows:

Class of Equity Securities Number of holders
Chess Depositary Interest (CDI) 1,303

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares (not quoted) 4

Voting rights of equity securities

Ordinary Shares

The voting rights attached to ordinary shares are that each stockholder shall be entitled to one vote for each share of 
capital stock held by such stockholder.

CDI’s

In accordance with section 9 of the Company’s Prospectus dated 2 December 2019, CDI holders have the following 
options to attend and vote at the Company’s general meeting;

– instructing CDN, as the legal owner, to vote the Shares underlying their CDIs in a particular manner. A 
voting instruction form will be sent to CDI holders with the notice of meeting for the meeting and this must 
be completed and returned to the Registry prior to the meeting;

–  informing Limeade that they wish to nominate themselves or another person to be appointed as CDN’s 
proxy with respect to their Shares underlying the CDIs for the purposes of attending and voting at the 
general meeting; or

–  converting their CDIs into a holding of Shares and voting these at the meeting (however, if thereafter the 
former CDI holder wishes to sell their investment on ASX, it would be necessary to convert the Shares 
back to CDIs). In order to vote in person, the conversion must be completed prior to the record date for the 
meeting. See above for further information regarding the conversion process.

As one CDI represents one Share, a CDI holder will be entitled to one vote for every CDI they hold.

Options

Option holders do not have any voting rights on the options held by them. 

Distribution of holders of equity securities

The distribution of holders of equity securities on issue in the Company as at the Reporting Date is as follows:

Ranges Investors Securities %
1 to 1000 412 234,290 0.09%
1001 to 5000 584 1,380,909 0.54%
5001 to 10000 106 789,397 0.31%
10001 to 100000 126 4,223,737 1.64%
100001 and Over 75 250,767,689 97.42%
Total 1,303 257,396,022 100.00%



Less than marketable parcels of ordinary shares (UMP Shares)

The number of holders of less than a marketable parcel of CDI’s based on the closing market price at the Reporting 
Date is as follows:

Total Shares UMP Shares UMP Holders
% of issued shares held 

by UMP holders
257,396,022 521,973 632 0.20

Twenty largest stockholders of quoted equity securities

Rank Name Balance as at 13 
February 2023

%

1 NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 64,141,133  24.92 %
2 CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 54,717,724  21.26 %
3 TVC CAPITAL II LP 35,618,770  13.84 %
4 OAK HC/FT PARTNERS L.P 27,380,178  10.64 %
5 J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED 9,693,125  3.77 %
6 BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD 8,623,292  3.35 %
7 ERICK RIVAS 4,272,000  1.66 %
8 CARL ALBRECHT & MOLLIE ALBRECHT 3,019,728  1.17 %
9 WRIGHT DICKINSON 2,909,568  1.13 %
10 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 2,863,824  1.11 %
11 RICHARD R ALBRECHT 2,585,156  1.00 %
12 CHRISTOPHER DICKINSON 2,427,520  0.94 %
13 CHRISTOPHER ACKERLEY & DIANA ACKERLEY 2,288,616  0.89 %
14 HUGH REILLY III 1,854,068  0.72 %
15 CHRISTOPHER ACKERLEY 1,827,744  0.71 %
16 BROCK ROBERTSON & HANNAH ROBERTSON 1,094,662  0.43 %
17 DANIEL E POCH 1,074,212  0.42 %
18 TVC CAPITAL PARTNERS II LP 1,039,512  0.40 %
19 JOSH GREENE 1,021,104  0.40 %
20 MARK POTVIN 1,003,984  0.39 %

Top 20 Total 229,455,920  89.15 %
Balance 27,940,102  10.85 %
Total 257,396,022  100.00 %
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